Singapore Management University

Institutional Knowledge at Singapore Management University

Dissertations and Theses Collection (Open Access)

Dissertations and Theses

3-2019

Financial market implications of marketing actions and the disclosure of marketing information

Sungkyun MOON Singapore Management University

Follow this and additional works at: https://ink.library.smu.edu.sg/etd_coll

Part of the Finance and Financial Management Commons, and the Marketing Commons

Citation

MOON, Sungkyun. Financial market implications of marketing actions and the disclosure of marketing information. (2019). 1-84. Available at: https://ink.library.smu.edu.sg/etd_coll/259

This PhD Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Dissertations and Theses at Institutional Knowledge at Singapore Management University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations and Theses Collection (Open Access) by an authorized administrator of Institutional Knowledge at Singapore Management University. For more information, please email cherylds@smu.edu.sg.

FINANCIAL MARKET IMPLICATIONS OF MARKETING ACTIONS AND THE DISCLOSURE OF MARKETING INFORMATION

SUNGKYUN MOON

SINGAPORE MANAGEMENT UNIVERSITY 2019

FINANCIAL MARKET IMPLICATIONS OF MARKETING ACTIONS AND THE DISCLOSURE OF MARKETING INFORMATION

by Sungkyun Moon

Submitted to Lee Kong Chian School of Business in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Business (Marketing)

Dissertation Committee:

Kapil R. Tuli (Chair/Thesis Advisor) Professor of Marketing Singapore Management University

Srinivas K. Reddy Professor of Marketing Singapore Management University

Jin K. Han Professor of Marketing Singapore Management University

Anirban Mukherjee Visiting Assistant Professor of Marketing INSEAD

Rajdeep Grewal The Townsend Family Distinguished Professor of Marketing University of North Carolina

Singapore Management University 2019

Copyright (2019) Sungkyun Moon

FINANCIAL MARKET IMPLICATIONS OF MARKETING ACTIONS AND THE DISCLOSURE OF MARKETING INFORMATION

Sungkyun Moon

ABSTRACT

Examining the relationship between a firm's marketing actions and its financial performance is widely viewed as critical for the marketing discipline. Not surprisingly, a number of studies have empirically examined the relationship and established the positive effects of firms' marketing actions on firm performance. Little, however, is known about the impact of disclosures of marketing actions by publicly listed firms on the key stakeholders in financial markets. In addition, extant literature on marketing and finance interface has paid less attention to seek for conditions under which marketing actions are more effective and relevant to creating firm value. This dissertation consists of two essays that examine a specific marketing action, advertising spending. In Essay 1, I explore the effects of disclosure of advertising spending on analyst and investor uncertainty about future earnings. In Essay 2, I identify the firm's financial conditions and market environments where the levels of advertising spending are more (or less) relevant for firm value creation. To address concerns related to potential endogeneity of both disclosure and levels of advertising spending, I propose an instrumentation strategy that draws upon insights from economic geography and auditor norms. Empirical tests show that the instruments are both relevant and valid. Importantly, results provide robust support for the proposed hypotheses in both Essay 1 and Essay 2.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLESii
LIST OF FIGURES
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSiv
CHAPTER 1. General Introduction1
1.1. Outline of the Dissertation
1.2. Contribution of the Dissertation
CHAPTER 2. The First Essay, "The Effects of the Disclosure of Advertising Spending on
Investors' and Analysts' Uncertainty"
2.1. Introduction
2.2. Conceptual Framework
2.3. Data and Measures11
2.4. Empirical Strategy14
2.5. Results
2.6. Discussion
2.7. Conclusions
CHAPTER 3. The Second Essay, "Advertising and Firm Value: The Role of Financial and
Market Relevance"
3.1. Introduction
3.2. Conceptual Framework27
3.3. Data and Measures
3.4. Empirical Strategy
3.5. Results
3.6. Discussion
3.7. Conclusions
References

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1:	MEASURES, DATA SOURCES, AND SUPPORTING LITERATURE FOR CONROL VARIABLES
TABLE 2:	DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS AND CORRELATION MATRIX64
TABLE 3:	RESULTS OF FIRST STAGE PROBIT MODEL65
TABLE 4:	THE EFFECTS OF DISCLOSURE OF ADVERTISING SPENDING ON INVESTORS' AND ANALYSTS' UNCERTAINTY66
TABLE 5:	ROBUSTNESS ANALYSES FOR INVESTORS' UNCERTAINTY (IU)67
TABLE 6:	ROBUSTNESS ANALYSES FOR ANALYSTS' UNCERTAINTY (AU)68
TABLE 7:	DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS AND CORRELATION MATRIX69
TABLE 8:	SELECTION MODEL RESULTS70
TABLE 9:	RESULTS OF FIRST STAGE AUXILIARY REGRESSION MODEL71
TABLE 10:	THE EFFECT OF ADVERTISING SPENDING ON FIRM VALUE72
TABLE 11:	ROBUSTNESS ANALYSES73

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1:	PERCENTAGE OF PUBLICLY LISTED FIRMS DISCLOSING	
	ADVERTISING SPENDING	74
FIGURE 2:	MARGINAL EFFECTS OF DISCLOSURE OF ADVERTISING SPENDING	ŕ
	ON INVESTORS' UNCERTAINTY ACROSS VALUES OF CASH FLOWS	J
	AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS	75
FIGURE 3:	MARGINAL EFFECTS OF DISCLOSURE OF ADVERTISING SPENDING	j
	ON ANALYSTS' UNCERTAINTY ACROSS VALUES OF CASH FLOWS	
	AND PEER FIRMS' AD DISCLOSURE PREVALENCE	76
FIGURE 4:	MARGINAL EFFECTS OF ADVERTISING SPENDING ON FIRM VALUE	3
	ACROSS VALUES OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS, CASH FLOWS, AND PEE	R
	ADVERTISING	77

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

During the journey in pursuit of the Ph.D., there were a lot of tough and harsh moments that I could not have overcome without my companions. Without their helps and supports, I could not have made this achievement. First of all, I would like to thank my parents, In-Woo Moon and Chun-Lye Park. In addition to their dedicated supports, they have always listened to me and respected my decision on every single step in my life. I also want to thank my lovely sisters, Hye-Jin and Hye-Kyung, and my cousin, Seongdo. My life in the Ph.D. program would have been much tougher if he has not been there with me in Singapore. It was really fortunate that I met my advisor, Kapil. There is no doubt that he is not only an outstanding scholar and teacher, but also a great mentor who generously spends a lot of his time on the meetings and discussions with me. Whenever I had doubts and concerns on my research, career choices, and job talks, he has encouraged and supported me. Without him, I could not have taken any single step forward during my Ph.D. journey. I owe Anirban a big thank you for his support and help in many moments in pursuit of the Ph.D. and during my job market. Also, I would like to thank my other committee members: Jin K. Han, Srinivas K. Reddy, and Rajdeep Grewal. I really appreciate all their suggestions and feedbacks. Since I joined the Ph.D. program, there have always been the marketing faculty who have had their doors open for me. I appreciate their great supports and helps. I want to thank Leon Gim and Yee Heng who shared their ideas and thoughts, and discuss with me things about research, life, and sometimes random things. I owe special thanks to Jingi, who helped me tremendously whenever I had questions regarding data collection issues and methods in finance, other Ph.D. colleagues in SMU who have been good friends, and the administrative staff of SMU who have helped me a lot in university paperwork and other administrative issues.

CHAPTER 1. General Introduction

Examining the relationship between a firm's marketing actions and its financial performance is widely viewed as critical for the marketing discipline. Not surprisingly, a number of studies have empirically examined the relationship and established the positive effects of firms' marketing actions on firm performance. Little, however, is known about the impact of disclosures of marketing actions by publicly listed firms on the key stakeholders in financial markets. In addition, extant literature on marketing and finance interface has paid less attention to explore conditions under which marketing actions are more effective and relevant to creating firm value. This dissertation consists of two essays that examine a specific marketing action, advertising spending. In Essay 1, I explore the effects of disclosure of advertising spending on analyst and investor uncertainty about future earnings. In Essay 2, I identify the firm's financial conditions and market environments where the levels of advertising spending are more (or less) relevant for firm value creation. To address concerns related to potential endogeneity of both disclosure and levels of advertising spending, I propose an instrumentation strategy that draws upon insights from economic geography and auditor norms. Empirical tests show that the instruments are both relevant and valid. Importantly, results provide robust support for the proposed hypotheses in both Essay 1 and Essay 2.

1.1. Outline of the Dissertation

The first essay of this dissertation, "*The Effects of the Disclosure of Advertising Spending on Investors' and Analysts' Uncertainty*", examines whether the disclosure of a firm's advertising spending in its annual reports can help investors and analysts predict the firm's future performance. Chapter 2 of this dissertation provides detailed discussion on this issue and financial market implications of the disclosure of advertising spending. The second essay of this dissertation, "*Advertising and Firm Value: The Role of Financial and Market Relevance*", examines the contingency effects of advertising on firm value and identifies financial and market conditions under which advertising is more (or less) relevant for firm value creation.

1.2. Contribution of the Dissertation

This dissertation contributes to marketing literature by examining the effects of marketing actions and the disclosure of marketing information through the financial market perspective that has high managerial relevance and policy implications. Specifically, the first essay provides the first empirical examination of the effects of the disclosure of advertising spending on investors' and analysts' uncertainty. It is responsive to calls by Marketing Science Institute (see Mizik and Nissim 2011) and Marketing Accountability Standard Board (see Stewart and Gugel 2016) to examine the consequences of disclosure of marketing metrics. The second essay examines the effect of advertising spending on firm value and explores firm and market level contingency effects. By doing so, the second essay identifies relevant firm financial conditions and market environments, and provides managerial implications. Importantly, for the identification of the proposed effects in both essays, I apply the instrumentation strategy to address the potential endogeneity concerns related to disclosure of advertising spending and the level of advertising

spending. Specifically, I develop and propose instruments alternative to those (e.g., the lag of advertising or the average of advertising spending of peer firms in the same industry) frequently used in extant literature in marketing. Accordingly, this dissertation contributes to marketing literature by proposing alternative instruments that can mitigate the critiques by Rossi (2014) and Angrist (2014) and potentially be used in other contexts.

CHAPTER 2. The Effects of the Disclosure of Advertising Spending on Investors' and Analysts' Uncertainty

2.1. Introduction

Whereas a large body of academic research suggests that advertising spending has a positive effect on firm performance (e.g., Joshi and Hanssens 2010; Rust, Lemon, and Zeithaml 2004; Sridhar et al. 2016; McAlister et al. 2016), most publicly listed firms do not disclose this metric in their annual reports (see Figure 1). Under the current regulatory guidelines, firms can make the judgement on whether advertising is "material" and then disclose their advertising spending in their annual reports (SEC 1994). However, this judgement may not be essentially related with investors' and analysts' benefits. For example, in 2016, Apple stopped disclosing advertising spending in its annual reports, and investors and analysts bemoaned this decision. In particular, "analysts at Wells Fargo pointed out in a recent research note, that's a shame as it was useful to track Apple's advertising expense, and its ad spend as a percentage of revenue, over time." (O'Reilly 2016).

Interestingly, recent studies call for mandatory disclosure of advertising spending by publicly listed firms (e.g., Chakravarty and Grewal 2011; Luo and de Jong 2012) given that disclosure of advertising spending is beneficial for investors and analysts. However, little research systematically examines the potential benefits of disclosure of advertising spending for investors and analysts. Hence, this study presents the first systematic empirical examination of the impact of disclosure of advertising spending on the uncertainty faced by investors and analysts about the future earnings of a firm, and provides direct implications for the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). In addition, integrating theories of disclosures in accounting with literature in marketing, this study

proposes and tests a contingency framework, and presents a nuanced picture about the conditions under which disclosure of advertising spending is likely to be more (or less) useful for analysts and investors.

2.2. Conceptual Framework

2.2.1. Disclosure of Advertising Spending

Under the current regulatory regime, firms have to disclose their advertising spending in their financial statements only if they consider advertising spending to be *material* information for investors (Heitzman, Wasley, and Zimmerman 2010). The SEC (1999, p. 2-4) explains that "materiality concerns the significance of an item to users of a registrant's financial statements. A matter is 'material' if there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable person would consider it important" (McAlister et al. 2016, p. 210). The null hypothesis in the current regulatory regime is that only those firms for which advertising spending is (not) material information for investors do (not) disclose advertising spending. As such, *ceteris paribus*, there should not be a significant difference in the investors' and analysts' understanding or uncertainty about the future financial performance of firms that disclose their advertising spending and those that do not.

Interestingly, most of the current literature examines the antecedents of advertising spending disclosure such as potential valuation benefits (e.g., Simpson 2008), proprietary costs (e.g., Heitzman, Wasley, and Zimmerman 2010) and political costs (e.g., Legoria 2005). Little attention, however, is directed towards examining the consequences of a firm's decision to disclose its advertising spending. Uncertainty faced by investors is an important consideration for capital market participants because higher investor uncertainty results in higher costs of capital for the firm (e.g., Bhattacharya et al. 2012; Bloomfield and Fischer 2011; Dhaliwal et al.

2011). Analysts' uncertainty is also important because, as capital market intermediaries, analysts improve market efficiency through information collection and dissemination (see Francis and Soffer 1997; Simpson 2010).

In focusing on both investors' and analysts' uncertainty, this study follows a large body of literature in accounting that examines the consequences of regulatory policies such as Regulation Fair Disclosure (e.g., Bailey et al. 2003; Heflin, Subramanyam, and Zhang 2003), mandatory adoption of International Financial Reporting Standard (e.g., Byard, Li, and Yu 2011), and Jump Start Our Business Startups Act (e.g., Barth, Landsman, and Taylor 2017); and those of firm disclosures such as forward-looking discussions (e.g., Muslu et al. 2014). Importantly, a focus on investors' and analysts' uncertainty allows this study to assess whether disclosures about marketing metrics such as advertising spending "provide useful information to investors and other users of financial reports", a central concern for regulatory bodies such as SEC and FASB.¹

2.2.2. Disclosure of Advertising, and Investors' and Analysts' Uncertainty

Disclosure of material information by firms provides richer information environment for investors and analysts and increases the predictability of firms' future earnings, i.e., lowers the uncertainty faced by investors and analysts (Healy and Palepu 2001). A large body of empirical studies in marketing, accounting, and economics view advertising spending as information that is likely to be valuable for investors (for a comprehensive review of this literature, see Edeling and Fischer 2016). Specifically, prior research shows that information about advertising spending of a firm is likely to allow investors and analysts to assess a firm's competitive viability (Joshi and

¹ http://www.fasb.org/facts/

Hanssens 2010), evaluate its investments in intangible assets (Ellis, Fee, and Thomas 2012; Lev 2001; McAlister, Srinivasan, and Kim 2007), and even make an informed appraisal of its brand equity (Bagwell 2007). Taken together, the vast body of literature across disciplines strongly suggests that information about the advertising spending is likely to increase investors' and analysts' understanding of a firm's future financial performance, and therefore reduce the uncertainty about it. Therefore, the author posits that the disclosure of advertising spending is likely to lower the uncertainty faced by investors and analysts. Formally,

H1a: Disclosure of advertising spending lowers investors' uncertainty. H1b: Disclosure of advertising spending lowers analysts' uncertainty.

2.2.3. Contingency Framework: Information Relevance

The effectiveness of information provided by a firm depends on the extent to which investors and analysts consider this information to be relevant in understanding the future financial performance of the firm (e.g., Groening, Mittal, and Zhang 2016; Healy and Palepu 2001). Prior research shows that both firm- and industry-specific conditions are likely to determine the relevance of firm disclosures (e.g., Barth, Landsman, and Taylor 2017; Dhaliwal et al. 2011; Enache and Srivastava 2017). Accordingly, this study explores both firm and industry conditions that are likely to moderate the impact of disclosure of advertising spending on investors' and analysts' uncertainty.

Advertising Spending Disclosure and Financial Health of a Firm

Research in accounting shows that if the financial health of a firm is poor, then investors are less likely to pay attention to its disclosures (e.g., Collins, Pincus, and Xie 1999; Hayn 1995). For example, investors are less likely to take into account disclosures by loss-making firms because they deem disclosures by such firms to be less credible (Frost 1997; Gu and Li 2007). Consistent with this view, this study proposes that the disclosure of advertising spending is likely to have a weaker impact on investors' and analysts' uncertainty for firms that are financially weak. Drawing on prior literature in marketing and accounting, I consider cash flows the key indicator of firm financial health (e.g., Defond and Hung 2003; Kumar and Krishnan 2008; Vorhies, Morgan, and Autry 2009).

A firm's cash flows are closely tracked by investors, analysts, and regulators because they are widely viewed as an indicator of a firm's financial health (Srinivasan and Hanssens 2009; Vorhies, Morgan, and Autry 2009). A firm with poor cash flows faces concerns about its ability to continue to fund its current operations or even pursue growth opportunities (Kumar and Krishnan 2008). In addition, firms with poor cash flows are more likely to have higher cost of capital and are more likely to face cuts in capital investment (e.g., Campbell, Dhaliwal, and Schwartz 2012). Prior work in accounting shows that under such circumstances, when the firm is facing concerns about its financial health, investors and analysts are less likely to pay attention to disclosures made by the firm (e.g., Hayn 1995; Collins, Pincus, and Xie 1999). Therefore, the author expects that the impact of disclosure of advertising spending on investors' and analysts' uncertainty is likely to be weaker for firms with lower cash flows. Formally,

- H2a: The negative effect of disclosure of advertising spending on investors' uncertainty is weaker for firms with lower cash flows.
- H2b: The negative effect of disclosure of advertising spending on analysts' uncertainty is weaker for firms with lower cash flows.

Advertising Spending Disclosure and Intangible Assets

Some firms are characterized by a high level of intangible assets (e.g., brand equity and customer relationship) whereas other firms are more dependent on tangible assets (e.g., plants and

equipment). In contrast to tangible assets, intangible assets such as brand equity are difficult to value and rarely appear on the financial statement of a firm (Lev 2018; Slotegraaf, Moorman, and Inman 2003). In addition, there are relatively higher levels of information asymmetry between investors and managers in firms characterized by high levels of intangible assets (Beyer et al. 2010; Lev 2001). Due to this information asymmetry, firms that have greater dependence on intangible assets hire a research firm to publish analysts' reports on the firms themselves (Kirk 2011).

Indeed, intangible assets internally created within a firm are expensed on the income statement and are rarely recognized as assets on the balance sheets (Peters and Taylor 2017). In addition, even in the income statement, investments in intangibles are generally aggregated within selling, general, and administrative expense (SG&A) which includes more than 20 items. As such, it is very difficult for investors to know the extent to which the firm spends on intangible assets. For example, investors and analysts may not know whether the brand value of a firm is maintained, improved, or discounted (Lev 2018).

Therefore, it is more challenging for investors and analysts to evaluate the value of firms characterized by a high level of intangible assets than those by tangible assets. In this context, it is likely that investors and analysts need more information to predict the future cash flows of a firm with higher levels of intangible assets and advertising spending information reported by firms thus is more relevant. Formally,

H3a: The negative effect of disclosure of advertising spending on investors' uncertainty is stronger for firms with higher levels of intangible assets.
H3b: The negative effect of disclosure of advertising spending on analysts' uncertainty is stronger for firms with higher levels of intangible assets.

The Moderating Role of Disclosure Externality

Disclosure by a firm is likely to be more relevant if the firm is operating under conditions where investors and analysts need more information to evaluate its future performance (e.g., Shroff, White, and Zhang 2013). Given that firms operate in different industries, investors and analysts face heterogeneous information environment because demands on relevant information about firms are different in each industry. Thus, industry conditions are likely to determine information environment for investors and analysts.

Research in accounting finds that information disclosure by a firm has impacts on peer firms' stock prices, stock liquidity, and investment decisions (e.g., Foster 1981; Bushee and Leuz 2005; Badertscher, Shroff, and White 2013). Consistent with these findings, the recent empirical study by Shroff, Verdi, and Yost (2017) examines the effect of information disclosures by peer firms in the industry and finds those information disclosures have an impact on a firm's cost of capital. This finding suggests that disclosures of information by peer firms have spillover effects on investors and help reduce information asymmetry between the focal firm and investors (i.e., disclosure externality). Shroff, Verdi, and Yost (2017) also find the effect of information disclosures by peer firms is stronger (weaker) when less (more) information about the focal firm is available in financial markets. This suggests that investors and analysts take advantage of information disclosed by peer firms in the industry to forecast a firm's future cash flows.

Drawing on the theory of disclosure externality (e.g., Dye 1990; Admati and Pfleiderer 2000), this study proposes advertising spending disclosures by peer firms in the industry are likely to influence information environment for a firm and thus affect the relevance of disclosure of advertising spending of the firm.

In an industry in which disclosures of advertising spending by peer firms are prevalent, it is likely that investors and analysts can use advertising spending information of peer firms in the industry to infer the focal firm's advertising spending. The more peer firms disclose advertising spending, the less investors and analysts need information about the firm's advertising spending. As such, advertising spending information disclosed by the firm is less relevant and the information effectiveness becomes weaker. Formally,

2.3. Data and Measures

2.3.1. Data

To test the proposed hypotheses, this study uses data on firms' accounting information from COMPUSTAT. In 1994, SEC issued Financial Reporting Release No. 44 (FRR 44) and changed the regulation for the disclosure of advertising spending. Therefore, this study focuses on the data after fiscal year 1995 to ensure that the sample is within a single regulatory regime. Following prior literature, the study excludes financial and insurance firms, and firms in the regulated utilities industry (e.g., Badertscher, Shroff, and White2013; Minnis 2011). To capture investors' uncertainty reflected in idiosyncratic risk, i.e., stock return volatility that is not explained by standard risk factors (Fama and French 1993; Carhart 1997), I use stock price information from Center for Research in Stock Prices (CRSP). I obtain information related with analysts' earnings forecasts from the Institutional Brokers' Estimate System (I/B/E/S) to measure analysts' uncertainty. I use stock price information from CRSP and collect Fama and French risk

H4a: The negative effect of disclosure of advertising spending on investors' uncertainty is weaker for firms in industries where advertising spending disclosures by peer firms are prevalent.

H4b: The negative effect of disclosure of advertising spending on analysts' uncertainty is weaker for firms in industries where advertising spending disclosures by peer firms are prevalent.

factors from Kenneth R. French's library to estimate a firm's idiosyncratic risk.² Following standard practice in finance and accounting, this study excludes stocks whose price is less than \$5 at the end of a fiscal year in estimating models because they are illiquid and their inclusion in the sample can lead to biased results (e.g., Ball, Kothari, Shanken 1995; Kim and Qi 2010; Sadka and Scherbina 2007). In addition, this study focuses on U.S. based firms that are geographically located in states except Alaska and Hawaii and their annual sales are greater than \$250 million. Merging the data from different sources results in 2,523 firms and 20,237 firm-year observations from fiscal year 1995 to 2016.

2.3.2. Measures

Investors' and analysts' uncertainty. I measure investors' uncertainty by idiosyncratic risk of a firm, i.e., stock return volatility that is not explained by standard risk factors (e.g., Han, Mittal, and Zhang 2017). To measure idiosyncratic risk of a firm, I use Fama and French (1993) three-factor model augmented by Carhart (1997)'s momentum factor. Specifically, I use Equation 1 to estimate idiosyncratic risk of firm *i*:

(1)
$$(R_{id} - R_{fd}) = \alpha_i + \beta_{mi} \times (R_{md} - R_{fd}) + \beta_{si} \times SMB_d + \beta_{hi} \times HML_d + \beta_{ui} \times UMD_d + \varepsilon_{id},$$

where R_{id} = daily return on stock of firm *i* on day *d*, R_{fd} = daily risk-free return on day *d*, R_{md} = daily return on a value-weighted market portfolio on day *d*, SMB_d = Fama-French size portfolio on day *d*, HML_d = Fama-French market-to-book ratio portfolio on day *d*, and UMD_d = the momentum factor on day *d*. To isolate the impact of disclosure of advertising spending in a firm's annual report, I estimate Equation 1 for each firm and each fiscal year by using daily stock

² http://mba.tuck.dartmouth.edu/pages/faculty/ken.french/data_library.html

returns during the period between the day of the release of a firm's annual report and the day before the release of its annual report in the following year. Idiosyncratic risk is measured by the standard deviation of the residuals from Equation 1 (see Han, Mittal, and Zhang 2017).

Analysts' uncertainty is measured by using the average of the standard deviation of analysts' earnings forecasts in each month (e.g., Chen, Miao, and Shevlin 2015; Petacchi 2015). To isolate the impact of disclosure of advertising spending in a firm's annual report, I apply the same approach used to measure investors' uncertainty and measure analysts' uncertainty during the period between the day of the release of a firm's annual report and the day before the release of its annual report in the following year (e.g., Bayer, Tuli, and Skiera 2017).³

Disclosure of advertising spending. I measure disclosure of advertising spending as a binary variable that is equal to one if a firm discloses advertising spending in its annual report or zero otherwise. Consistent with McAlister et al. (2016), I code disclosure of advertising spending as 1 if the item of "xad" in COMPUSTAT is not missing or as 0 otherwise (for a similar practice in accounting literature, see Chen, Miao, and Shevlin 2015; Simpson 2008).

Cash flows. Following prior literature, I measure cash flows of a firm by using its net operating cash flows scaled by total assets (Grewal, Chandrashekaran, and Citrin 2010; Gruca and Rego 2005).

Intangible assets. To measure intangible assets of a firm, I follow literature in accounting and calculate the ratio of tangible assets to total assets by using net property, plant, and equipment as tangible assets (e.g., Alissa et al. 2013; Cheng, Dhaliwal, and Zhang 2013). Then, I subtract the ratio from 1 to measure intangible assets such that higher values indicate the higher ratio of intangible to total assets (e.g., Tuli, Bharadwaj, and Kohli 2010).

³ I log transform this measure (i.e., the natural log of one plus analysts' uncertainty) to account for its skewness in the distribution. The substantive results do not change without log transformation.

Disclosures of advertising spending by peer firms. To measure disclosures of advertising spending by peer firms in the industry, I use the proportion of peer firms in the industry that disclose advertising spending (Shi, Grewal, and Sridhar 2019).

Control variables. To isolate the impact of disclosure of advertising spending on investors' and analysts' uncertainty, this study follows prior literature and includes a comprehensive set of control variables. Table 1 outlines the variables, measures, data sources, and supporting literature for the use of these measures. Table 2 shows the descriptive statistics and correlations between the variables used in models. All continuous variables are winsorized at 1% to rule out the influence of outliers.

2.4. Empirical Strategy

2.4.1. Model Specification

To test the proposed hypotheses, this study needs to take into account several econometric considerations. First, although models include a comprehensive set of firm and industry control variables (see Table 1), the models need to account for the potential effect of firm-level time-invariant unobservable factors. As such, the models include firm-specific fixed effects. Second, in order to take into account unobservable year effects, the models include year-specific fixed effects, resulting in the following models for investors' and analysts' uncertainty:

(2)
$$IU_{i,j,t} = \beta_{0i} + \beta_1 A D_{i,j,t-1} + \beta_2 A D_{i,j,t-1} \times Cash Flows_{i,j,t-1} + \beta_3 A D_{i,j,t-1} \times Intangible Assets_{i,j,t-1} + \beta_4 A D_{i,j,t-1} \times Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t-1} + \Delta'Controls_{i,j,t-1} + \sum_{k=1}^{K-1} \gamma_k Year_t + \varepsilon_{i,j,t},$$

where $IU_{i,j,t}$ is investors' uncertainty for firm *i* in industry *j* in fiscal year *t*; $AD_{i,j,t-1}$ is disclosure of advertising spending by a firm; **Controls**_{*i*,*j*,*t*-1} represents the vector of control variables outlined in Table 1; β_{0i} is the firm-specific intercept; and $\varepsilon_{i,j,t}$ is the random error term.

(3)
$$AU_{i,j,t} = \delta_{0i} + \delta_1 AD_{i,j,t-1} + \delta_2 AD_{i,j,t-1} \times Cash Flows_{i,j,t-1} + \delta_3 AD_{i,j,t-1} \times Intangible Assets_{i,j,t-1} + \delta_4 AD_{i,j,t-1} \times Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t-1} + \Lambda'Controls_{i,j,t-1} + \sum_{k=1}^{K-1} \lambda_k Year_t + \zeta_{i,j,t,k}$$

where AU_{i,j,t} is analysts' uncertainty for firm *i* in industry *j* in fiscal year *t*; δ_{0i} is the firm-specific intercept; and $\zeta_{i,j,t}$, is the random error term. To facilitate the interpretation of parameter estimates, this study mean-centers all continuous variables included in the models.

2.4.2. Addressing Endogeneity: Two Stage Residual Inclusion

Although the models include a comprehensive set of control variables, it is possible to argue that a firm's decision to disclose its advertising spending is not exogenous and, in fact, is correlated with time varying unobservable factors (e.g., Nagar, Nanda, and Wysocki 2003; Simpson 2008). Therefore, without accounting for the potential endogeneity of advertising disclosure, models are likely to yield biased estimates. Accordingly, following recent research in marketing (e.g., Danaher et al. 2015) and economics (e.g., Terza, Basu, and Rathouz 2008), this study adopts the two stage residual inclusion (2SRI) approach to take into account the potential endogeneity of disclosure of advertising spending. Specifically, in the first stage I estimates the following probit model:

(4) $Pr(AD_{i,j,t-1} = 1)$ = $\Phi(\alpha_0 + \alpha_1 Geographic Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t-1} + \alpha_2 Auditor Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t-1}$ + $\Omega'Controls_{i,j,t-1} + \sum_{k=1}^{K-1} \theta_k Year_{t-1}),$ where Geographic Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t-1} is the proportion of non-industry geographic peers, other than firm *i*, disclosing advertising spending in their annual reports in industry *j* at fiscal year *t-1*; Auditor Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t-1} is the proportion of non-industry auditor peers, other than firm *i*, disclosing advertising spending in their annual reports.

Identification of the 2SRI approach requires inclusion of variables that are correlated with the endogenous variable but are uncorrelated with the error term, i.e., exclusion restriction (Wooldridge 2010). To identify the effects of disclosure of advertising spending, I apply the instrumentation strategy and propose two instruments that drive the disclosure of advertising spending but are uncorrelated with time varying and firm-specific unobservable factors related with the disclosure.

First, I propose as an instrument the proportion of geographic peers that disclose advertising spending. Geographic peers are defined as firms, other than a focal firm, whose headquarters are in the same or neighboring states as the focal firm's headquarter is.

Given the regulatory ambiguity about the disclosure of advertising spending, and the uncertainty related to the associated competitive costs of doing so, I expect that managers are likely to be uncertain about the decision to disclose advertising spending in their annual reports. As such, I argue that one avenue for addressing this uncertainty is by mimetic isomorphism, that is, "the process of imitation in which managers engage when dealing with uncertainty about the relationship between means and ends" (Husted, Jamali, and Saffar 2016, p. 2053; also see Greve 1998). Consistent with mimetic isomorphism, I propose that a firm's decision to disclose its advertising spending is likely to be a function of the extent to which its geographic peers disclose their advertising spending.

Behaviors of geographical peers establish the institutional norms and legitimacy to firm actions, and therefore increase their adoption by firms (see Greve 2002). As more and more geographical peers adopt a practice, the practice is likely to become an accepted norm and attain cognitive legitimacy (see Sine, Haveman, and Tolbert 2005). Indeed, recent research shows that geographical proximity is likely to have a significant impact on a firm's probability of making voluntary disclosures of management forecasts (Matsumoto, Serfling, and Shaikh 2018) and stock option plans to employees (Kedia and Rajgopal 2009). Accordingly, I expect that the higher the proportion of geographical peers of a firm that disclose their advertising spending, the greater will be the probability that a firm discloses its advertising spending.

Importantly, I argue that the disclosure behaviors of geographical peers are unlikely to have any effect on investors' and analysts' evaluation of a firm's future cash flows after taking into account the control variables used in the current study. A potential caveat is that there could be significant overlap between the geographic and industry peers, and therefore tracking the advertising spending disclosures of geographic peers could provide investors with information about a firm's advertising spending. To address this issue, I follow Matsumoto, Serfling, and Shaikh (2018) and focus on the geographic peers that are not in the same industry as the focal firm. As such, it is highly unlikely that the disclosures of advertising spending by non-industry geographic peers are correlated with time varying firm-specific unobservable factors related with firm decision to disclose advertising spending.

Second, I also propose as the additional instrument the proportion of auditor peers that disclose advertising spending. Auditor peers are defined as firms, other than a focal firm, whose auditor is the same as that of a focal firm.

Accounting research has established that firms rely on auditors to make accounting decisions and auditors are involved in the process of corporate disclosure decisions (e.g., Acito, Burks, and Johnson 2009; Heitzman, Wasley, Zimmerman 2010; Kwak, Ro, and Suk 2012). When firms decide to disclose information, they usually consult with the auditor and determine the materiality of information (Heitzman, Wasley, Zimmerman 2010).

Auditors have structured processes and internal rules of conducting an audit (Kothari, Ramanna, and Skinner 2010). These processes and rules characterize a particular audit style (Francis, Pinnuck, and Watanabe 2014) and may act as norms not only for auditing and but also for accounting decisions such as information disclosures. As a result, auditors tend to make financial statements to be consistent with their audit styles, and make adjustments to accounts consistently throughout their clients, which results in similar financial statements of client firms sharing the same auditor (Johnston and Zhang 2018).

There are numerous firms that are required to hire an independent auditor to audit their financial reports according to the SEC regulation. However, there is the limited number of auditors available in the market for firms and, therefore, it is natural for firms to share the same auditor regardless of industries. Given that firms usually share the same auditors and auditors influence corporate disclosure decisions, it is reasonable to expect that a firm's information disclosure can be influenced by those of firms sharing the same auditor.

Indeed, empirical studies suggest that firms sharing the same auditor show similar disclosure patterns (e.g., Brown and Knechel 2016; De Franco, Fogel-Yaari, and Li 2016; Glendening, Mauldin, and Shaw 2019). For example, a firm's MD&A section is textually similar with those of other firms audited by the same auditor (De Franco, Fogel-Yaari, and Li 2016). In addition, Glendening, Mauldin, and Shaw (2019) find that a firm is more likely to disclose the

quantitative critical accounting estimate when its auditor has multiple clients disclosing the same information. Therefore, this study proposes that disclosures of advertising spending by auditor peers have a positive effect on a focal firm's disclosure of advertising spending.

Importantly, I argue this instrument is valid and the disclosures of advertising spending by auditor peers may not affect investors' and analysts' expectation on a firm's future cash flows. One potential concern is that some of auditor peers compete with the focal firm in the same industry and thus disclosures of advertising spending by auditor peers help investors and analysts expect a firm's advertising spending. However, to mitigate this concern, this study only considers auditor peers that do not operate in the same industry as the focal firm. Therefore, it is unreasonable to expect that disclosures of non-industry auditor peers are correlated with time varying firm-specific observable factors related with the disclosure of advertising spending of the focal firm.

After estimating Equation 4, I generate the probit residual of $AD_{i,j,t-1}$, $PR_AD_{i,j,t-1}$, and include it as an additional covariate in Equation 2 and 3 to obtain the following two models:

(5)
$$IU_{i,j,t} = \beta_{0i} + \beta_1 AD_{i,j,t-1} + \beta_2 AD_{i,j,t-1} \times Cash Flows_{i,j,t-1} + \beta_3 AD_{i,j,t-1} \times Intangible Assets_{i,j,t-1} + \beta_4 AD_{i,j,t-1} \times Peer Disclosure_{j,t-1} + \beta_5 PR_AD_{i,j,t-1} + \Delta'Controls_{i,j,t-1} + \sum_{k=1}^{K-1} \gamma_k Year_t + \varepsilon_{i,j,t,k}$$

(6)
$$AU_{i,j,t} = \delta_{0i} + \delta_1 AD_{i,j,t-1} + \delta_2 AD_{i,j,t-1} \times Cash \ Flows_{i,j,t-1} + \delta_3 AD_{i,j,t-1} \times Intangible \ Assets_{i,j,t-1} + \delta_4 AD_{i,j,t-1} \times Peer \ Disclosure_{j,t-1} + \delta_5 PR_AD_{i,j,t-1} + \Lambda'Controls_{i,j,t-1} + \sum_{k=1}^{K-1} \lambda_k Year_t + \zeta_{i,j,t}.$$

Following Terza, Basu, and Rathouz (2008) and Petrin and Train (2010), I use 200 bootstrapping replications to calculate standard errors of coefficients in estimating Equation 5 and Equation 6

because the models include the generated term, i.e., $PR_AD_{i,j,t-1}$. In addition, I use the clustered robust standard errors at the firm level to account for the possibility that errors of observations from the same firm are correlated (e.g., Han, Mittal, and Zhang 2017; Jindal and McAlister 2015).

2.5. Results

2.5.1. Hypotheses Testing

Table 3 outlines the results of estimating the probit model, i.e., Equation 4. As expected, and in support of the proposed exclusion restrictions, disclosures of advertising spending by non-industry geographic peers, i.e., Geographic Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t-1}, have a significant positive impact on current disclosure ($\alpha_1 = 1.130$, p < .05). Similarly, disclosures of advertising spending by non-industry auditor peers, i.e., Auditor Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t-1}, have a significant positive impact on current disclosure ($\alpha_2 = 3.859$, p < .001).

Table 4 outlines the results of estimating "main effects only models" which are versions of Equation 5 and 6 without the interaction terms between AD_{i,j,t-1} and the proposed moderators (see Model 1 & 3 in Table 4). Model fit statistics suggest that the proposed full models have better fit with the data.⁴ As such, in testing the proposed hypotheses, this study examines results from Model 2 and Model 4 in Table 4.

Consistent with H_{1a} and H_{1b}, this study finds that disclosure of advertising spending by firms in their annual reports has a significant negative impact on investors' uncertainty ($\beta_1 = -.001$, p < .001) and analysts' uncertainty ($\delta_1 = -.019$, p < .001).

⁴ By using Akaike information criteria (AIC), I compare Model 1 (AIC = -153,174.3) with Model 2 (AIC = -41,848.28), and Model 3 (AIC = -153,207) with Model 4 (AIC = -41,864.71). Consistently, adjusted R² suggests Model 3 (= .4285) and Model 4 (= .1123) have better fit than Model 1 (= .4275) and Model 2 (= .1115).

In support of the proposed contingency framework, this study finds that there are both firm and industry factors that moderate the effects of AD_{i,j,t-1} on investors' and analysts' uncertainty. Consistent with H_{2a} and H_{2b}, this study finds that the interaction of AD_{i,j,t-1} and cash flows is negative and significant for both investors' uncertainty ($\beta_2 = -.005$, p < .05) and analysts' uncertainty ($\delta_2 = -.073$, p < .01). In addition, the interaction of AD_{i,j,t-1} and intangible assets is negative and significant for investors' uncertainty ($\beta_3 = -.004$, p < .001). H_{3a}, therefore, is supported. However, this study does not find empirical support for H_{3b} ($\delta_3 = -.012$, *n.s.*).

 H_{4a} is also not supported as the interaction of $AD_{i,j,t-1}$ and peer disclosure is not significant for investors' uncertainty ($\beta_4 = .000, n.s.$). However, consistent with H_{4b} , this study does find that the interaction of $AD_{i,j,t-1}$ and peer disclosure is positive and significant for analysts' uncertainty ($\delta_4 = .025, p < .01$).

2.5.2. Robustness Analyses

This study conducts multiple sensitivity analyses to examine the robustness of the preceding results. As shown in the results of robustness checks in Table 5 and Table 6, the conclusion of the study is robust to an alternative measure for investors' uncertainty estimated from Fama and French three-factor model (Fama and French 1993), an alternative measure for analysts' uncertainty (i.e., without log transformation), an alternative industry classification (i.e., the three digit NAICS)⁵, the choice of exclusion restriction (i.e., using either Geographic Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t-1} or Auditor Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t-2}), and an alternative model specification (i.e., random effects models).

⁵ Results based on the five-digit NAICS also show the consistent results.

Table 5 presents the results of the robustness checks for the effect of disclosure of advertising spending on investors' uncertainty and Table 6 shows those for the effect of disclosure of advertising spending on analysts' uncertainty.

2.6. Discussion

2.6.1. Implications for Regulators and Managers

The current study finds significant difference in the uncertainty faced by investors and analysts for firms that disclose and those that do not disclose advertising spending. Thus, the clear implication for FASB and SEC is that they need to reconsider the current regulation that allows managers to make the decision about the materiality of advertising spending for investors. By reconsidering the current regulation, FASB and SEC can address investors' and analysts' concerns that are likely to arise when firms, such as Apple, decide to stop disclosing advertising spending (O'Reilly 2016).

In addition, results of the contingency framework provide a template for managers as this study identifies specific conditions under which disclosures of advertising spending are likely to have stronger effects on lowering investors' and analysts' uncertainty. Specifically, the benefit of advertising spending disclosure is likely to be stronger for firms with higher cash flows and higher levels of intangible assets, and those in industries where disclosures of advertising spending by peer firms are scares (see Figure 2 and 3). Hence, the current study highlights that disclosure of advertising spending is more salient for managers in the contexts outlined in the contingency framework.

2.6.2. Implications for Extant Literature

This study contributes to the nascent literature on disclosure of marketing metrics (e.g., Bayer, Tuli, and Skiera 2017; Srinivasan and Sihi 2012) by identifying both firm- and industry-specific conditions under which disclosure of a specific metric, i.e., advertising spending, does (or does not) have an impact on the uncertainty faced by investors and analysts.

Results of the current study suggest a firm's financial condition to be a critical contingency for the effects of disclosure of advertising spending on both investors' and analysts' uncertainty. To facilitate the discussion of the moderating effects, this study uses the estimates from the results of Model 2 and Model 4 in Table 4 and calculates the marginal effects of disclosure of advertising spending on investors' and analysts' uncertainty across the values of each moderating variable. I use the 20th and 80th percentile of each moderating variable to calculate the marginal effects. Based on the calculated marginal effects, I draw the graph to describe the interaction effect of each moderating variable and disclosure of advertising spending on investors' and analysts' uncertainty.

Specifically, this study finds that the marginal effects of disclosure of advertising spending on investors' uncertainty and analysts' uncertainty are stronger for firms with higher cash flows. Panel A in Figure 2 shows that the effect of disclosure of advertising on investors' uncertainty monotonically decreases as cash flows of firms increase (see Figure 2, Panel A). Similarly, Panel A in Figure 3 also shows the same that the extent to which disclosure of advertising spending by firms can reduce analysts' uncertainty increases as cash flows of firms increase (see Figure 3, Panel A).

In addition, this study finds that the marginal effects of disclosure of advertising spending on investors' uncertainty are amplified for firms with higher levels of intangible assets. Panel B in Figure 2 indicates the degree to which disclosure of advertising spending by firms increases as the levels of firms' intangible assets become higher. However, firms with higher levels of tangible assets rather than intangible assets, i.e., 20th to 30th percentile, do not have this benefit because the marginal effect of advertising spending disclosure is not significant (see Figure 2, Panel B).

Importantly, this study also finds strong support for the moderating effect of an industry condition as the marginal effect of advertising spending disclosure on analysts' uncertainty is strong for firms in industries where disclosures of advertising spending by peer firms are scarce. Panel B in Figure 3 clearly shows the pattern that disclosure of advertising spending can provide more benefits to firms in industries where peer firms rarely disclose advertising spending. In particular, the marginal effect of the disclosure of firms in industries with scares disclosures of advertising spending by peer firms is approximately five times compared to that of firms in industries with prevalent disclosures by peer firms. (see Figure 3, Panel B).

Taken together, by identifying both firm- and industry-specific conditions under which disclosure of a specific marketing metric, i.e., advertising spending, does (or does not) have an impact on the uncertainty faced by investors and analysts, this study contributes to the nascent literature on disclosure of marketing metrics (e.g., Bayer, Tuli, and Skiera 2017).

2.7. Conclusions

Integrating literature in marketing and accounting, this essay examines the effects of disclosure of advertising spending by publicly listed firms on the uncertainty faced by investors and analysts about future earnings of a firm. In this essay, I find the empirical evidence that disclosure of advertising spending has a significant negative impact on investors' and analysts' uncertainty about future earnings of a firm. Importantly, the results account for the potential endogeneity of disclosure of advertising spending by using alternative instruments to those frequently used in extant literature that can mitigate the critiques by Rossi (2014) and Angrist (2014). In addition, consistent with the proposed contingency framework, I find the negative effect of disclosure of advertising spending on investors' uncertainty is stronger for firms with higher cash flows and higher levels of intangible assets. Similarly, I find the negative effect of disclosure of advertising spending on analysts' uncertainty is stronger for firms with higher cash flows and weaker for firms in industries where disclosures of advertising spending by peer firms are prevalent. Taken together, this essay has direct implications for SEC and FASB and identifies specific conditions under which disclosure of advertising spending is more (or less) useful.

CHAPTER 3. Advertising and Firm Value: The Role of Financial and Market Relevance

3.1. Introduction

Senior managers, financial analysts, and investors frequently discuss the importance of tracking a firm's advertising spending. For example, Procter and Gamble spent \$8 billion on advertising in a year (Procter and Gamble 2016b) and Apple spent \$1.8 billion in 2015 (O'Reilly 2016). Indeed, advertising is frequently discussed in firms' earnings conference calls among executives, financial analysts, and investors. During an earnings conference call, an analyst from Societe Generale asked senior managers at Diageo, "On your advertising and promotion...wanted to understand...if there are any brands that have significantly benefited or lost out as a result of that?" (Diageo 2016). Underscoring the importance of advertising, an analyst from Deutsche Bank questioned the senior management of Colgate Palmolive, "Can you talk about structurally how you view advertising?" (Colgate Palmolive 2015).

Reflecting the analysts' interest, senior managers often convey their commitment to enhance advertising. For example, Indra K. Nooyi, the CEO of PepsiCo, notes to investors that "our spending on advertising and marketing as a percentage of sales increased by 40 basis points" (PepsiCo 2017). Jon Moeller, CFO of Procter and Gamble, emphasizes the importance of advertising by noting to investors "we're expecting increases in advertising spend this year versus last" (Procter and Gamble 2016a).

Advertising spending is undoubtedly a critical marketing instrument for managers and a large body of academic research empirically examines its effects on different dimensions of financial performance such as firm value (e.g., Joshi and Hanssens 2010), stock returns (e.g., Kim and McAlister 2011; Osinga et al. 2011), and firm risk (e.g., McAlister, Srinivasan, and Kim 2007). Surprisingly, extant literature has paid little systematic attention to identifying contingencies under which advertising spending is more relevant to creating firm value. Indeed, Edeling and Fischer (2016) meta-analyze 83 studies and find a very low mean elasticity for advertising spending to firm value. Thus, it seems to be important to understand conditions under which a firm's advertising spending is more (or less) relevant to firm value creation.

Against this background, the second essay of my dissertation seeks to make two contributions. *First*, responding to the extant literature suggesting mixed empirical evidence of the effect of advertising on firm value, this essay provides the empirical evidence of the positive link between advertising and firm value. In particular, in examining the effect of advertising on firm value, I propose an instrumentation strategy that draws upon insights from economic geography and auditor norms to address concerns related to potential endogeneity of levels of advertising spending. *Second*, I closely examine the financial market implication of advertising spending and develop arguments for the contingency effects of advertising in creating firm value. Exploration of the contingency effects, in turn, offers an opportunity to identify firm- and industry-level conditions under which advertising is more (or less) relevant to firm value, and provide the nuanced implications for marketing theory and managers.

3.2. Conceptual Framework

3.2.1. Advertising and Firm Value

Extant research views the effect of advertising on firm value as positive (e.g., Edeling and Fischer 2016; Joshi and Hanssens 2010). One argument for the positive link between advertising and firm value is the persuasiveness of advertising. The persuasive view of advertising suggests that advertising creates intangible assets such as brand equity that generate both current and

future cash flows (see McAlister et al. 2016; Bagwell 2007). Indeed, a large body of literature in marketing supports this argument, and shows the empirical evidences that advertising translates into greater consumer awareness (Draganska and Klapper 2011) and customer retention (Datta, Fourbert, and van Heerde 2014).

Consistent to this argument, marketing literature suggests that advertising has an ability to create not only the current sales but also the expected future sales (see Srinivasan and Hanssens 2009). For example, Joshi and Hanssens (2010) theorize that advertising has a direct impact on firm value though investors' positive expectations on future sales, and they find the empirical evidence supporting the direct impact of advertising on firm value in the PC manufacturing and sporting goods industries.

Indeed, higher levels of advertising indicate the competitive viability of a firm (Joshi and Hanssens 2010), and therefore its ability to generate superior firm performance. Building on the persuasive view of advertising, I expect that advertising helps build intangible assets such as brand equity and lead to creating firm value through the conduit of brand equity. Therefore,

*H*₁: *The higher advertising spending, the higher is firm value.*

3.2.2. Contingency Approach: Financial and Market Relevance

It is important to understand conditions under which advertising is more (or less) relevant to firm value. In fact, several studies in marketing suggest understanding of the contingency effects of advertising is important. For example, McAlister et al. (2016) empirically examine the moderating role of firm strategy and find that advertising has a positive impact on the value of firms with differentiation strategy. In addition, Srinivasan, Lilien, and Sridhar (2011) suggest the effect of advertising on firm value during recessions depends on firm-specific conditions and product market profiles (e.g., B2B or B2C). These studies provide insightful implications for
understanding the contingencies of the link between advertising and firm value in terms of both firm-level and market-level conditions. However, these studies also leave an avenue for further research on the contingency effects of advertising because it is likely that there are conditions that moderate the effect of advertising on firm value in terms of firms' financial and market conditions.

Prior research suggests that, for investors, it is important to consider a firm's financial conditions in evaluating the effect of advertising on the firm's future performance (e.g., Bharadwag, Tuli, and Bonfrer 2011). This is because, given the uncertainty about payoffs from firms' investment in marketing actions, a firm's financial conditions provide a signal to investors if the firm is able to build relevant assets and manage risks and threats involved in marketing actions (e.g., Bharadwaj, Tuli, and Bonfrer 2011; Kurt and Hulland 2013; Malshe and Agarwal 2015). Thus, by taking financial conditions into consideration, investors are able to evaluate the extent to which a firm's marketing actions are relevant. In addition, market conditions are also important to consider in predicting firm future performance. This is because market conditions such as competition and growth are likely to shape the uncertainty of the outcome derived from a firm's strategic actions and thus determine their relevance to firm value (e.g., Dess and Beard 1988; Han, Mittal, and Zhang 2017; Saboo and Grewal 2013). Accordingly, I incorporate the financial perspective and propose financial and market relevance as important contingencies.

As the mixed evidence of the effect of advertising spending on firm value suggests, the effect is not likely to be homogenous to all firms. Rather, the effect is plausibly heterogenous to firms and both the internal and external conditions of firms may determine the relevance of advertising for creating firm value. Therefore, I examine the effect of advertising on firm value through the lens of the financial and market relevance.

3.2.3. Moderating Role of Financial Relevance

Intangible assets. Firm assets are "claims to future benefits" and may suggest the potential economic rents generated by business operation (Lev 2001, p. 5). Specifically, firm assets indicate how firms generate cash flows through their recurrent operation. For example, some firms have high levels of intangible assets (e.g., brand equity) and others are more dependent on tangible assets (e.g., plants and equipment). This suggests that firms with higher intangible assets may rely more on those assets to generate cash flows whereas firms with higher tangible assets have claims to future cash flows from production facilities (Lev 2001). As such, it is likely that the extent to which a firm is dependent on its intangible assets can determine the relevance of advertising to building brand equity and the effect of advertising on firm value since advertising is a critical instrument to establish intangible assets.

It is reasonable to expect that advertising is more important and relevant for firms with higher levels of intangible assets. Since these firms have claims to future benefits driven by intangible assets such as brand equity, investment in enhancing brand equity (e.g., brand awareness and brand quality) through advertising is more likely to be relevant to generating cash flows and firm value (McAliter et al. 2016; Joshi and Hanssesn 2010). Thus, in this context, investors are more likely to expect higher relevance of advertising to firms with intangible assets and higher investors' expectations of future cash flows of firms.

Accordingly, I argue that asset configuration of a firm matters for the effect of advertising on firm value and predict that the effect of advertising on firm value is likely to be stronger for firms with higher levels of intangible assets. Formally,

H₂: The positive effect of advertising spending on firm value is stronger for firms with higher levels of intangible assets.

Cash flows. Investors, analysts, and regulators closely track a firm's cash flows because they are widely viewed as an indicator of a firm's financial health (Srinivasan and Hanssens 2009; Vorhies, Morgan, and Autry 2009). A firm with poor cash flows may suffer from the inability to continue to fund its current operations or even pursue growth opportunities (Kumar and Krishnan 2008). In addition, firms with poor cash flows are more likely to face cuts in capital investment (e.g., Campbell, Dhaliwal, and Schwartz 2012).

Firm ability to maintain or enhance its advertising is an important consideration for investors because it serves as an assurance that they can expect the firm performance to be sustainable. A firm with higher cash flows is likely to have greater resources to maintain the investments required to sustain its market-based assets and capabilities (Katsikeas et al. 2016). Without the ability to do so, investors are not certain about the expectation of a firm's future cash flows generated by advertising through the conduit of brand equity. As such, the effect of advertising on firm value is likely to be stronger for firms with higher cash flows. Formally,

H₃: The positive effect of advertising on firm value is stronger for firms with higher cash flows.

Financial leverage. A firm's financial leverage indicates the extent to which it relies on debt to obtain financial resources. Firms with high leverage are likely to suffer from financial constraints because they need to pay interests and the principal amount of the debt. Higher financial leverage increases the probability of financial distress and even concerns about a firm's survival (Kurt and Hulland 2013; Malshe and Agarwal 2015). Indeed, Cookson (2017) finds that firms with high leverage are more exposed to external threats as they have limited financial resources to respond to them. The financial constraints of high leverage can also have spillover on firms' operations and result in more frequent and severe product recalls (see Kini, Shenoy,

and Subramaniam. 2017). Taken together, firms with high leverage are likely to be viewed as being in precarious financial health, a condition in which investors are less likely to expect advertising to be relevant because investors may cast doubt on the resources (and/or ability) available to firms with higher financial leverage to maintain and enhance levels of advertising and thus brand equity. Therefore, I predict:

*H*₄: *The positive effect of advertising on firm value is weaker for firms with higher financial leverage.*

3.2.4. Moderating Role of Market Relevance

A firm's advertising is likely to be more relevant if the firm is operating under conditions which a firm's advertising better translates into brand equity. Given that firms operate in different industries, they face heterogenous environment because competitive dynamics and resource munificence differ in each industry. Thus, market environments are likely to determine the relevance of advertising and affect investors' expectations of a firm's future cash flows.

Dess and Beard (1984) suggest environmental complexity and munificence shape the levels of uncertainty about the outcome of managerial decisions and then determine the relevance of the decisions to specific contexts. Competitive intensity reflects the extent to which market is complex and market growth indicates the degree of resource munificence in markets (e.g., Messersmith et al. 2014). In addition, due to competitive interference, the market environment is less likely to be conducive for a firm's advertising to translate into brand equity and firm value when peer firms in an industry spend higher levels of advertising spending. As such, I propose peer advertising, competitive intensity, and industry growth as important contingencies for the effect of advertising on firm value.

Peer advertising. It is common that firms competitively adjust their advertising spending to maintain their brand awareness and defeat other firms in brand competition. If a firm increases its level of advertising spending, then other firms also increase their advertising spending levels to compete with the firm in consumers' mind shares (Danaher, Bonfrer, and Dhar 2008; Edeling and Fischer 2016). In this context, it is likely that the extent to which peer firms in the same industry spend on advertising influences the relevance to the effect of advertising on firm value. Indeed, extant literature suggests understanding of competitive aspects of advertising is important, and a number of studies in the examination of advertising effect on firm performance measure advertising as its share of voice (e.g., Frennea, Han, and Mittal 2018; McAlister et al. 2016; Steenkamp and Fang 2011).

When the levels of peer firms' advertising are higher, the competition in advertising is likely to be higher. As such, due to competitive interference, it may be uncertain that a firm's investment in advertising can translate into firm value through the conduit of brand equity (e.g., Burke and Srull 1988; Danaher, Bonfrer, and Dhar 2008). Therefore, I argue that the effect of advertising on brand equity and thereby firm value can be weakened when the levels of peer firms' advertising spending are higher in the industry. Formally,

H₅: The positive effect of advertising on firm value is weaker for firms in industries where the level of peer advertising is higher.

Competitive intensity. In a highly competitive industry, it is likely that there are a larger number of firms with a variety of offerings for consumers. As such, in highly competitive industries, consumers' choices on firm offerings are plenty, and it is more likely that consumers can easily switch over products and services (Jaworski and Kohli 1993). Greater number of competitors combined with more choices for consumers can make for more complex competitive

dynamics (e.g., Messersmith et al. 2014). Given the same level of advertising and higher competition in the industry, it seems to be more difficult for a firm to translate its advertising into brand equity and firm performance. This is because consumers have numerous choices for products and can easily be distracted by other firms' products with marketing efforts. Thus, it is likely that the effect of advertising on a firm's brand equity and firm value is weaker for firms in more competitive industries. Therefore, I expect:

*H*₆: *The positive effect of advertising on firm value is weaker for firms in industries with higher competitive intensity.*

Industry Growth. High growth rate in an industry means that more resources and opportunities are available for firms in that industry (e.g., Brauer and Wiersema 2012). The availability of resources and opportunities, therefore, is likely to provide more conducive environment for firms to build their brand equity through advertising in such industries. This is because risks of failure become lower because of greater availability of resources (see Baum and Wally 2003), and consumer demand is likely to constantly increase. In this context of industries with higher growth, investors are likely to expect the advertising is of high relevance to firm value creation and the effect of advertising on firm value becomes stronger. Therefore,

H7: The positive effect of advertising on firm value is stronger for firms in industries with higher industry growth.

3.3. Data and Measures

3.3.1. Data

I obtain accounting-related information from the COMPUSTAT annual database, stock prices from the Center for Research in Security Prices (CRSP). In 1994, Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) clarified the disclosure standard for advertising via Financial Reporting Release No. 44 (FRR44). Therefore, to ensure that the sample represents a single regulatory paradigm, this study focuses on the data after fiscal year 1995 and uses data of firms from 1995 to 2016. Following precedence in finance and accounting literature, the study excludes financial and insurance firms, and firms from the regulated utilities industry (e.g., Badertscher, Shroff, and White 2013; Minnis 2011). This study follows standard practice in finance and accounting and excludes stocks whose price is less than \$5 at the end of a fiscal year in estimating models because they are illiquid and their inclusion in the sample can lead to biased results (e.g., Ball, Kothari, Shanken 1995; Kim and Qi 2010; Sadka and Scherbina 2007). In addition, this study focuses on U.S. based firms that are geographically located in states except Alaska and Hawaii and their annual sales are greater than 250 million dollars. After merging the data from different sources, the sample consists of 11,096 observations of 1,566 firms over 22 fiscal years from 1995 to 2016.

3.3.2. Measures

Firm value. Consistent with prior research, this study uses Tobin's q to measure firm value (e.g., McAlister et al. 2016; Sridhar et al. 2016; Chung and Pruitt 1994). Specifically,

(1) Firm Value (FV)_{i,j,t} = Tobin's q_{i,j,t}
=
$$\frac{\text{Market Value of Equity}_{i,j,t} + \text{Preferred Stock}_{i,j,t} + \text{Debt}_{i,j,t}}{\text{Total Assets}_{i,j,t}}$$

where Market Value of Equity_{i,j,t} = the number of common shares outstanding × share price at the end of fiscal year; Preferred Stock_{i,j,t} = liquidating value of preferred stock; and Debt_{i,j,t} = [(short-term liabilities – short-term assets) + long-term debt]; Total Assets_{i,j,t} = the book value of total firm assets for firm *i* in industry *j* in fiscal year *t*. *Advertising*. Following prior literature (e.g., Frieder and Subrahmanyam 2005; Joshi and Hanssens 2010; Mathur and Mathur 2000), this study measures a firm's advertising by the natural log of a firm's annual advertising expenditure reported in its financial report.

Intangible assets. To measure intangible assets of a firm, I follow literature in accounting, and calculate the ratio of tangible assets to total assets by using net property, plant, and equipment as tangible assets (e.g., Alissa et al. 2013; Cheng, Dhaliwal, and Zhang 2013). Then, I subtract the ratio from 1 to measure intangible assets such that higher values indicate the higher ratio of intangible to total assets (e.g., Tuli, Bharadwaj, and Kohli 2010).

Cash flows. Following prior literature, this study measures cash flows of a firm by using its net operating cash flows scaled by total assets (Grewal, Chandrashekaran, and Citrin 2010; Gruca and Rego 2005).

Leverage. This study measures a firm's financial leverage by the ratio of total long-term debt to equity, where equity is the market value of a firm's equity (e.g., Malshe and Agarwal 2015).

Peer Advertising. Peer advertising is measured by the average of advertising expenditure of peer firms in an industry based on the six-digit North American Industry Classification System (NAICS6).

Competitive intensity. This study uses the Herfindahl-Hirschmann index (HHI) to measure competitive intensity in an industry. I subtract HHI from 1 so that higher values of the variable represent higher competitive intensity (e.g., Deb, David, and O'Brien 2017; Fang, Lee, and Yang 2015).

Industry growth. I measure industry growth by the natural log of sales of an industry in the current fiscal year less natural log of sales of an industry in the prior year (e.g., Dotzel, Shankar, and Berry 2013).

Control variables. In addition to independent variables, this study follows prior literature focusing on firm value and incorporates additional control variables. The control variables include firm age, firm size, and liquidity. Consistent with prior literature in marketing and finance, I measure firm age by the number of years since the date of the stock listing on the stock market (e.g., McAlister, Srinivasan, and Kim 2007).⁶ I log transform firm age to account for its skewness in the distribution (Dotzel, Shankar, and Berry 2013; Heely, Matusik, and Jain 2007). In addition, I measure firm size by the natural log of total assets (e.g., Rego, Billett, and Morgan 2009; McAlister et al. 2016) and liquidity by the ratio of current assets to current liabilities (e.g., McAlister et al. 2016; Frennea, Han, and Mittal 2018).

Table 7 shows the descriptive statistics and correlations between the variables used in the empirical model. All continuous variables are winsorized at 1% to rule out the influence of outliers.

3.4. Empirical Strategy

3.4.1. Model Specification

The data used in this study feature a panel structure: multiple firms over multiple years are observed. The data structure allows this study to account for several important econometric issues. First, to account for the possibility that errors of observations from the same firm are correlated and heteroscedasticity in the error term, the model uses clustered robust standard

⁶ As is the common practice in finance, I use the date in which the stock first appears in CRSP as the listing date for the stock (e.g., John, Knyazeva, and Knyazeva 2011; Zhang 2006).

errors at the firm level (e.g., Han, Mittal, and Zhang 2017; Jindal and McAlister 2015). Second, to account for the potential effect of firm-level time-invariant unobservable factors, the model includes firm fixed-effects. Third, to account for unobservable factors related with years, the model includes year fixed-effects. Taken together, for firm *i* in industry *j* at fiscal year *t*, Equation 2 outlines the focal model of interest in this study to test the hypotheses:

(2)
$$FV_{i,j,t} = \beta_{0i} + \beta_1 Advertising_{i,j,t}$$

+ $\beta_2 Advertising_{i,j,t} \times Intangible Assets_{i,j,t} + \beta_3 Advertising_{i,j,t} \times Cash Flows_{i,j,t}$
+ $\beta_4 Advertising_{i,j,t} \times Leverage_{i,j,t} + \beta_5 Advertising_{i,j,t} \times Peer Advertising_{i,j,t}$
+ $\beta_6 Advertising_{i,j,t} \times Competitive Intensity_{j,t} + \beta_7 Advertising_{i,j,t} \times Industry Growth_{j,t}$
+ $\Theta'Controls_{i,j,t} + \sum_{k=1}^{K-1} \gamma_k Year_t + \varepsilon_{i,j,t},$

where FV is firm value measured by Tobin's q; β_{0i} is the firm-specific intercept, **Controls**_{i,j,t} is the vector of control variables; $\varepsilon_{i,j,t}$ is a random error term for firm *i* in industry *j* in fiscal year *t*. To facilitate the interpretation of parameter estimates, this study mean-centers the continuous variables.

3.4.2. Endogeneity Concerns

Selection bias. The focal variable of this study is advertising which requires annual advertising expenditure information, and the model includes firms that have advertising expenditure information in their financial reports. As such, the model, in turn, is likely to face a selection bias.

Therefore, following Han, Mittal, and Zhang (2017), this study uses the econometric approach proposed by Heckman (1979) to account for the potential selection bias. Specifically, I estimate a probit model on the complete data (all firms in COMPUSTAT and CRSP from 1995 to 2016). The dependent variable of the probit model is the disclosure of advertising expenditure

(i.e., AD Disclosure_{i,j,t}) by firm *i* in industry *j* in fiscal year *t*. I code AD Disclosure_{i,j,t} as 1 if a firm has the corresponding advertising expenditure information in its financial report, and 0 otherwise. I estimate the following model:

(3) $\begin{aligned} & \Pr(\text{AD Disclosure}_{i,j,t} = 1) \\ &= \Phi(\Delta' Z_{i,j,t}) \\ &= \Phi(\alpha_0 + \alpha_1 \text{Geographic Peer Disclosure}_{i,j,t} + \alpha_2 \text{Auditor Peer Disclosure}_{i,j,t} \\ &+ \alpha_3 \text{Peer Disclosure}_{i,j,t} + \Omega' \text{Controls}_{i,j,t} + \sum_{k=1}^{K-1} \lambda_k \text{Yeart}), \end{aligned}$

where Geographic Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t} is the proportion of non-industry geographic peers that disclose advertising spending; Auditor Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t} is the proportion of non-industry auditor peers that disclose advertising spending; Peer Disclsure_{i,j,t} is the proportion of industry peers that disclose advertising spending for firm *i* in industry *j* in fiscal year *t*. The probit model includes all independent and control variables used in Equation 2 other than variables using advertising expenditure.

In addition, the model uses three exclusion restrictions. *First*, as an exclusion restriction, I propose Geographic Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t}, i.e., the proportion of geographic peers that disclose advertising expenditure in their financial reports. In this study, I define geographic peers as firms whose headquarters are located in the same or neighboring states as a focal firm's headquarter is. Mimetic isomorphism suggests that managers are likely to engage in the process of imitation when dealing with the uncertainty (Husted, Jamali, and Saffar 2016; Greve 1998). Given the regulatory ambiguity about the disclosure of advertising spending and the uncertainty related to the associated competitive costs of the disclosure, a firm's decision on disclosure of advertising spending is likely to be correlated with the patterns of advertising spending disclosures by geographic peers. In addition, disclosures of geographic peers may establish the institutional norms and legitimacy to firm actions such as information disclosure and thus increase their adoption by firms (see Greve 2002). Accordingly, consistent with the empirical studies (e.g., Husted, Jamali, and Saffar 2016; Matsumoto, Serfling, and Shaikh 2018; Kedia and Rajgopal 2009), I expect that a firm is more likely to disclose advertising spending if more geographic peers disclose advertising spending.

Importantly, I argue that Geographic Peer Disclcosure_{i,j,t} is valid. A potential concern is that there could be the significant proportion of firms that are included in both geographic peers and industry peers, and disclosures of those firms may be correlated with firm-specific time varying unobservable factors related with the focal firm's disclosure. To address this concern, I follow Matsumoto, Serfling, and Shaikh (2018) and exclude industry peers in constructing geographic peers. Therefore, it is plausible to expect that the disclosures of advertising spending by non-industry geographic peers are unlikely to be correlated with time varying firm-specific unobservable factors related with the focal firm's disclosure (see *Essay 1* for further discussion, p. 16-17).

Second, I include, Auditor Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t}, i.e., the proportion of auditor peers that disclose advertising spending, as another exclusion restriction. I define auditor peers as peer firms audited by the same auditor as that of a focal firm. I believe that, as exclusion restriction, Auditor Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t} is relevant and valid. A large body of literature in accounting has established that firms' auditors not only implement auditing but also participate in the process of corporate disclosure decisions (e.g., Acito, Burks, and Johnson 2009; Heitzman, Wasley, Zimmerman 2010; Kwak, Ro, and Suk 2012). In addition, auditors have standardized processes and rules of conducting an audit (Kothari, Ramanna, and Skinner 2010) which determine a particular audit style (Francis, Pinnuck, and Watanabe 2014). Indeed, the auditor style is reflected in similar financial statements of client firms sharing the same auditor (Johnston and Zhang 2018), and empirical studies show that firms audited by the same auditor have similar disclosure patters (e.g., Brown and Knechel 2016; De Franco, Fogel-Yaari, and Li 2016; Glendening, Mauldin, and Shaw 2019). As such, I propose that advertising spending disclosures of auditor peers are correlated with the focal firm's disclosure of advertising spending.

However, Auditor Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t} is not likely to affect a focal firm's value. It is possible that some of auditor peers operate in the same industry and thus their disclosures of advertising spending may have an impact on a focal firm's value. To address this issue, I exclude industry peers in constructing Auditor Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t} and only consider non-industry auditor peers. Therefore, it is highly unlikely that disclosures of advertising spending by non-industry auditor peers are correlated with firm-specific time varying unobservable factors related with the disclosure of advertising spending (see *Essay 1* for further discussion, p.18-19).

Third, I also incorporate Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t}, i.e., the proportion of peer firms that disclose advertising expenditure, in the model as the additional exclusion restriction. Importantly, I argue that Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t} is a relevant and valid exclusion restriction. A firm's discretionary disclosure can be correlated with those of peer firms in an industry because the firm and peer firms face similar market conditions which might potentially affect firms' disclosure behaviors. Specifically, firm managers are likely to incorporate the industry norms when they make decisions on disclosures (Brown, Gordon, and Wermers 2006; Ellis, Fee, and Thomas 2012). However, the peer firms' disclosures may not affect the value of the focal firm because it is less likely that a large number of peer firms "collectively" take an action – information disclosure in this case – towards the focal firm (Germann, Ebbes, and Grewal 2015, p. 9). Finally, from estimates of Equation 3, I calculate the inverse Mills ratio as given in Equation 4:

(4) Inverse Mills Ratio_{i,j,t} = $\phi(\hat{\Delta}' Z_{i,j,t}) / \Phi(\hat{\Delta}' Z_{i,j,t})$,

where ϕ is a normal density function and Φ is a cumulative normal distribution function. To account for the inverse Mills ratio being a generated regressor, model estimation uses bootstrapping with 200 replications to compute standard errors.

Endogeneity. It is reasonable to argue that marketing actions are endogenous to firm performance because marketing actions such as advertising are strategically planned and implemented by managers and may be influenced by time varying unobservable factors. For example, managers may decide to spend increased budget on advertising if the firm performance is expected to decline (e.g., Datta, Foubert, and Van Heerde 2015). To account for the potential concerns on the endogeneity of advertising, this study follows recent research in marketing and applies control function approach (e.g., Sridhar et al. 2016; Han, Mittal, and Zhang 2017; Petrin and Train 2010). Specifically, I estimate the following first stage auxiliary regression model, Equation 5:

(5) Advertising_{i,j,t} =
$$\gamma_{0i} + \gamma_1$$
Geographic Peer Advertising_{i,j,t} + γ_2 Auditor Peer Advertising_{i,j,t}
+ Θ 'Controls_{i,j,t} + $\sum_{k=1}^{K-1} \delta_k$ Yeart + $\zeta_{i,j,t}$,

where Geographic Peer Advertising_{i,j,t} is the natural log of the average of advertising spending of non-industry geographic peers; Auditor Peer Advertising_{i,j,t} is the natural log of the average of advertising spending of non-industry auditor peers; γ_{0i} is the firm-specific intercept, **Controls**_{i,j,t} is the vector of control variables; $\zeta_{i,j,t}$ is a random error term for firm *i* in the industry *j* in fiscal year *t*.

The identification of control function approach requires exclusion restrictions (Petrin and Train 2010). As such, to identify the effect of advertising on firm value, I propose two exclusion

restrictions that are valid and relevant. Specifically, two exclusion restrictions include the average level of advertising spending of geographic peers that are similar in size but do not operate in the same industry and the average level of advertising spending of auditor peers that are similar in size but do not operate in the same industry. I log transform the exclusion restrictions to be consistent with the measure of the focal firm's advertising.

Firms are likely to mimic the behaviors of other firms that are similar to them in terms of various attributes such as size, profitability, operating performance, diversification, growth options etc. (e.g., Shi, Grewal, and Sridhar 2019; Albuquerque 2009). Among various firm attributes, size seems to be the most important firm attribute that explains the similarity of firms because firm size is related with other firm attributes, e.g., operating performance, diversification, and growth options (Albuquerque 2009; Collins, Kothari, and Rayburn 1987; Hart 1962). For example, larger firms tend to have more business segments and higher operating performance. As a result, firms with similar size may be exposed to similar shocks, and thus firms are more likely to follow behaviors of firms that are similar to them in terms of size. Indeed, advertising has a positive effect on sales, and advertising decision can also be based on sales targets. Therefore, I expect that when a firm determines the levels of advertising spending, the firm is likely to benchmark firms that are similar to the firm in terms of sales.

Beyond similarity, research also shows how firm decisions such as CSR engagement and provisions of options to executives are likely to be determined by the practices of non-industry geographic peers (see Husted, Jamali, and Saffar 2016; Kedia and Rajgopal 2009; Dougal, Parsons, and Titman 2015). This is because, in different geographic areas, there are different local stakeholders (e.g., consumers, investors, and regulators etc.) who evaluate firms with different logics and standards driven by local culture, traditions, or regulations (Zhao et al.

2017). As such, there may be local norms that are shared by firms in the geographic area. Determining advertising budget is a strategic decision and involves some degree of uncertainty. Thus, to manage the uncertainty, it is possible for firms to follow local norms that may act as legitimation in determining the levels of advertising spending.

In addition, research in accounting suggests that information can be transmitted from a firm to others through shared auditors (e.g., Lim et al. 2018; Dhaliwal et al. 2016). Auditors have "an opportunity to discuss strategic initiatives with their clients including, among others, the acquisition or disposition of assets" (Dhaliwal et al. 2016, p. 49). This is because they gather information about a client firm during an audit and communicate with senior management. Therefore, to manage the uncertainty involved in the decision on advertising spending, managers may use information gathered from the auditor about advertising spending of auditor peers – defined as other client firms that hire the same audit firm. Given that advertising spending is confidential information, it is reasonable to expect information transmission through auditors occurs among non-industry auditor peers. This is because auditors are unlikely to share the confidential information of a client firm with firms competing with the firm in the same industry. In addition, due to the confidentiality, transmission of the information on advertising spending may occur in a form of general information such as the approximate average of advertising spending of client firms. Synthesizing these two bodies of literature, I argue that a firm's advertising spending is likely to be significantly influenced by non-industry geographic and auditor peers that have similar size with the size of a focal firm.

More importantly, I argue the instruments of advertising spending based on geographic and auditor peers are unlikely to have an impact on firm value of the firm. One might raise a concern on instrument validity because some geographic and auditor peers are within the same industry in which a focal firm competes with its peers. However, I exclude firms that are in the same industry as a focal firm in the construction of both geographic and auditor peers. Thus, it is unlikely that the average of advertising spending of non-industry geographic and auditor peers is correlated with the time-varying unobservable factors that influence the levels of advertising spending of the firm.

To make sure a firm has enough peers to benchmark advertising, I focus on firms that have at least two non-industry geographic peers and non-industry auditor peers within the same sales decile. Taken together, this study incorporates Inverse Mills Ratio_{i,j,t} based on Equation 4 and Control Function_{i,j,t} generated from Equation 5 into the focal model and I estimate the following model to test the proposed hypotheses:

(6)
$$FV_{i,j,t} = \beta_{0i} + \beta_1 Advertising_{i,j,t}$$

+ $\beta_2 Advertising_{i,j,t} \times Intangible Assets_{i,j,t} + \beta_3 Advertising_{i,j,t} \times Cash Flows_{i,j,t}$
+ $\beta_4 Advertising_{i,j,t} \times Leverage_{i,j,t} + \beta_5 Advertising_{i,j,t} \times Peer Advertising_{i,j,t}$
+ $\beta_6 Advertising_{i,j,t} \times Competitive Intensity_{j,t} + \beta_7 Advertising_{i,j,t} \times Industry Growth_{j,t}$
+ $\beta_8 Inverse Mills Ratio_{i,j,t} + \beta_9 Control Function_{i,j,t}$
+ $\Theta'Controls_{i,j,t} + \sum_{k=1}^{K-1} \varphi_k Year_t + \eta_{i,j,t}$,

where FV is firm value measured by Tobin's q; β_{0i} is the firm-specific intercept, **Controls**_{i,j,t} is the vector of control variables; $\eta_{i,j,t}$ is a random error term for firm *i* in the industry *j* in fiscal year *t*. To account for Inverse Mills Ratio_{i,j,t} and Control Function_{i,j,t} being generated, I use 200 bootstrapping replications to calculate standard errors of the estimates.

3.5. Results

3.5.1. Hypotheses Testing

Table 8 outlines the results of estimating the selection model, i.e., Equation 3. As expected, and in support of the proposed exclusion restrictions, disclosures of advertising spending by nonindustry geographic peers, i.e., Geographic Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t-1}, have a significant positive impact on current disclosure ($\alpha_1 = 1.734$, p < .001). Similarly, disclosures of advertising spending by non-industry auditor peers, i.e., Auditor Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t-1}, have a significant positive impact on current disclosure ($\alpha_2 = 2.904$, p < .001), and disclosure of advertising spending by industry peers, i.e., Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t-1}, have a significant positive impact on current disclosure ($\alpha_3 = 2.097$, p < .001).

In addition, Table 9 outlines the results of estimating the first stage auxiliary regression model, i.e., Equation 5. Consistent to the expectation, the results support the proposed exclusion restrictions. The average of advertising spending of non-industry geographic peers, i.e., Geographic Peer Advertising_{i,j,t}, has a significant positive effect on the focal firm's level of advertising spending ($\gamma_1 = .048$, p < .05). Similarly, the average of advertising spending of nonindustry auditor peers, i.e., Auditor Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t-1}, has a significant positive effect on the focal firm's level of advertising spending ($\gamma_2 = .066$, p < .01). These results suggest that both geographic peers' and auditor peers' advertising are the significant drivers of the firm's advertising spending level.

Table 10 outlines the results of estimating "main effect model" which is the version of Equation 6 without the interaction terms between Advertising_{i,j,t} and the proposed moderators (see Model 1 in Table 4). Model fit statistics suggest that the proposed full model has better fit

with the data.⁷ As such, in testing the proposed hypotheses, this study examines results from Model 2 in Table 10.

Importantly, the significant effects of both Inverse Mills Ratio_{i,j,t} and Control Function_{i,j,t} suggest the corrections for both selection bias of disclosure of advertising spending and the endogeneity of advertising spending are required.

Consistent with H₁, this study finds that advertising spending by firms has a significant positive impact on firm value ($\beta_1 = .757$, p < .001). In support of the proposed contingency framework, this study finds that there are both firm and industry factors that moderate the effects of Advertising_{i,j,t} on firm value. Consistent with H₂, this study finds that the interaction of Advertising_{i,j,t} and intangible assets is positive and significant for firm value ($\beta_2 = .145$, p < .05). In addition, the interaction of Advertising_{i,j,t} and cash flows is positive and significant ($\beta_3 = .576$, p < .001). H₃, therefore, is supported. However, this study does not find support for H₄ ($\beta_4 = .044$, p < .001). The effect is significant but in fact I find the direction of the empirical result is opposite to the proposed hypothesis. I discuss this result in detail in the discussion section.

Consistent with H₅, the interaction of Advertising_{i,j,t} is negative and marginally significant ($\beta_4 = -.011$, p < .10). However, I do not find empirical supports for H₆ ($\beta_6 = -.052$, *n.s.*) and H₇ ($\beta_7 = .040$, *n.s.*) as both the interaction terms are not significant though the directions of the effects are consistent with the proposed hypotheses.

2.5.2. Robustness Analyses

This study conducts multiple sensitivity analyses to examine the robustness of the preceding results. As shown in the results of robustness checks in Table 11, the conclusion of the study is

⁷ By using adjusted R^2 , I compare Model 1 (adjusted $R^2 = .1931$) with Model 2 (adjusted $R^2 = .1983$).

robust to an alternative industry classification (i.e., the five digit NAICS), the choice of exclusion restriction (i.e., using either Geographic Peer Advertising_{i,j,t} or Auditor Peer Advertising_{i,j,t}), and different samples with the alternative minimum number of both non-industry geographic peers and auditor peers. Table 11 presents the results of the robustness checks for the effect of advertising on firm value.

3.6. Discussion

This study builds on and integrates literature in marketing, finance, and accounting to examine the impact of advertising on firm value. I find that a firm's advertising contributes to creating firm value through the conduit of brand equity. In addition, I also find both firm and industry conditions that are more relevant for advertising to contribute the creation of firm value. This study has implications for both marketing theory and managers.

3.6.1. Implications for Marketing Theory

The study presents the theoretical and empirical examination of the impact of advertising on firm value measured by Tobin's q. The study, therefore, is responsive to extant research on advertising and firm value by providing the further examination of the link between advertising and firm value (Conchar, Crask, and Zinkhan 2005). In addition, a key contribution of the study is that it identifies the relevant conditions for the observed effect of advertising on firm value, both at the firm and the industry level through the lens of the financial and market relevance. To facilitate the discussion of the contingency effects, I use the estimates from the results of Model 2 in Table 10 and calculate the marginal effects of advertising on firm value across the values of each moderating variable. I use the 10th and 90th percentile of each moderating variable to calculate the marginal effects. Based on the calculated marginal effects, I draw the graph to describe the interaction effect of each moderating variable and advertising on firm value.

As shown in Panel A in Figure 4, the positive impact of advertising on firm value is stronger for firms that rely more on intangible assets to generate cash flows. This finding is consistent with the proposed argument that the impact of advertising on firm value can be driven by the conduit of brand equity. Importantly, by identifying intangible assets as a relevant condition for the effects of advertising on firm value, the study suggests that scholars should consider the moderating effects of asset configuration when evaluating investors' evaluation of other marketing actions.

Consistent with the proposed hypothesis, I find that the positive impact of advertising on firm value is stronger for firms with higher cash flows. (see Figure 4, Panel B). In fact, for firms with higher cash flows, advertising does have a significant and stronger effect on firm value. This suggests that high levels of advertising play an important role in creating firm value especially when a firm has the resources and ability to maintain and enhance its advertising. Indeed, consistent with the finding of this study, Bharadwaj, Tuli, and Bonfrer (2011) find the firm's profitability is an important moderating condition that shapes the effect of brand quality on shareholder wealth.

In addition, it is important to note that this study finds the moderating role of peer firms' advertising spending. As shown in Figure 4, the marginal effect of advertising on firm value decreases as levels of advertising spending by industry peers increase. Extant literature empirically examines the harmful effects of advertising from other firms and brands on consumer mind metrics and product market metrics (e.g., Burke and Srull 1988; Danaher, Bonfrer, and Dhar 2008). Building on those prior studies, this study provides the empirical

evidence that the effect of advertising on firm value is weakened when peer firms spend a lot on advertising and the average of their spending levels is higher.

The study, therefore, brings to the fore the importance of considering the competitive relevance in examining the relationship between marketing actions and investors' expectation about a firm's cash flows. As such, future studies can build on our finding and examine the value of other marketing actions such as new product introductions through the competitive relevance perspective.

It is important to discuss that this study finds the effect of advertising on firm value is stronger for firms with higher levels of financial leverage, which is the opposite to the proposed hypothesis. One possible explanation for this opposite significant and robust effect is that perhaps advertising, rather than financial leverage, moderates the negative effect of financial leverage on firm value. This suggests that advertising may mitigate the negative effect of financial leverage on firm value.

3.6.2. Implications for Managers

The current study finds the significant and positive impact of advertising on firm value. Thus, the clear implication for managers is that advertising is a critical driver of the investors' expectation about a firm's cash flows.

More importantly, results of the contingency framework provide a template for managers as this study identifies specific conditions under which advertising is likely to have stronger effects on firm value creation. Specifically, the benefit of advertising spending is likely to be stronger for firms that are more dependent on intangible assets to generate cash flows, firms with higher cash flows, and those in industries where the average level of advertising spending by industry peers is low (see Figure 4). Hence, the current study highlights that advertising spending is more relevant for firms in the contexts outlined in the contingency framework.

3.7. Conclusions

Integrating literature in marketing, finance, and accounting, this essay examines the impact of advertising on firm value. In this essay, I find the empirical evidence that a firm's advertising has a positive and significant impact on firm value. Importantly, the empirical model accounts for the potential endogeneity of advertising spending by using alternative instruments to those frequently used in extant literature and mitigates the critiques by Rossi (2014) and Angrist (2014). In addition, drawing on contingency approach based on financial and market relevance, I develop the conceptual framework for the contingency effects of advertising on firm value. Consistent with the proposed contingency framework, I empirically find that the positive effect of advertising spending is stronger for firms with higher levels of intangible assets and with higher cash flows, and weaker for firms in industries where the average advertising spending of peer firms is higher. Taken together, this essay has implications for marketing scholars and managers and identifies specific conditions under which advertising is more (or less) relevant to firm value creation.

References

Acito, Andrew A., Jeffrey J. Burks, and W. Bruce Johnson (2009), "Materiality Decisions and the Correction of Accounting Errors," *The Accounting Review*, 84 (3), 659-688.

Admati, Anat R., and Paul Pfleiderer (2000), "Forcing Firms to Talk: Financial Disclosure Regulation and Externalities," *The Review of Financial Studies*, 13 (3), 479-519.

Albuquerque, Ana (2009), "Peer Firms in Relative Performance Evaluation," *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 48 (1), 69-89.

Alissa, Walid, Samuel B. Bonsall IV, Kevin Koharki, and Michael W. Penn Jr (2013), "Firms' Use of Accounting Discretion to Influence Their Credit Ratings," *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 55 (2-3), 129-147.

Angrist, Joshua D (2014), "The Perils of Peer Effects," Labour Economics, 30, 98-108.

Badertscher, Brad, Nemit Shroff, and Hal D. White (2013), "Externalities of Public Firm Presence: Evidence from Private Firms' Investment Decisions," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 109 (3), 682-706.

Bagwell, Kyle (2007), "The Economic Analysis of Advertising," in *Handbook of Industrial Organization*, Vol. 3, Mark Armstrong and Rob Porter, eds. Amsterdam: North-Holland, 1701–844.

Bailey, Warren, Haitao Li, Connie X. Mao, and Rui Zhong (2003), "Regulation Fair Disclosure and Earnings Information: Market, Analyst, and Corporate Responses," *The Journal of Finance*, 58 (6), 2487-2514.

Ball, Ray, S. P. Kothari, and Jay Shanken (1995), "Problems in Measuring Portfolio Performance An Application to Contrarian Investment Strategies," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 38 (1), 79-107.

Baum, J. Robert and Stefan Wally (2003), "Strategic Decision Speed and Firm Performance," Strategic Management Journal, 24 (11), 1107-1129.

Barth, Mary E., Wayne R. Landsman, and Daniel J. Taylor (2017), "The JOBS Act and Information Uncertainty in IPO Firms," *The Accounting Review*, 92 (6), 25-47.

Bayer, Emanuel, Kapil R. Tuli, and Bernd Skiera (2017), "Do Disclosures of Customer Metrics Lower Investors' and Analysts' Uncertainty but Hurt Firm Performance?," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 54 (2), 239-259.

Brauer, Matthias F. and Margarethe F. Wiersema (2012), "Industry Divestiture Waves: How a Firm's Position Influences Investor Returns," Academy of Management Journal, 55 (6), 1472-1492.

Beyer, Anne, Daniel A. Cohen, Thomas Z. Lys, and Beverly R. Walther (2010), "The Financial Reporting Environment: Review of the Recent Literature," *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 50 (2-3), 296-343.

Bharadwaj, Sundar G., Kapil R. Tuli, and Andre Bonfrer (2011), "The Impact of Brand Quality on Shareholder Wealth," *Journal of Marketing*, 75 (5), 88-104.

Bhattacharya, Nilabhra, Frank Ecker, Per M. Olsson, and Katherine Schipper (2012), "Direct and Mediated Associations among Earnings Quality, Information Asymmetry, and the Cost of Equity," *The Accounting Review*, 87 (2), 449-482.

Bloomfield, Robert, and Paul E. Fischer (2011), "Disagreement and the Cost of Capital," *Journal of Accounting Research*, 49 (1), 41-68.

Brown, Nerissa C. and Lawrence A. Gordon, and Russ Wermers (2006), "Herd Behavior in Voluntary Disclosure Decisions: An Examination of Capital Expenditure Forecasts," *American Accounting Association 2006 Financial Accounting and Reporting Section (FARS) Meeting Paper*.

Brown, Stephen V., and W. Robert Knechel (2016), "Auditor–Client Compatibility and Audit Firm Selection," *Journal of Accounting Research*, 54 (3), 725-775.

Burke, Raymond R., and Thomas K. Srull (1988), "Competitive Interference and Consumer Memory for Advertising," *Journal of Consumer Research*, 15 (1), 55-68.

Bushee, Brian J., and Christian Leuz (2005), "Economic Consequences of SEC Disclosure Regulation: Evidence from the OTC Bulletin Board," *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 39 (2), 233-264.

Byard, Donal, Ying Li, and Yong Yu (2011), "The Effect of Mandatory IFRS Adoption on Financial Analysts' Information Environment," *Journal of Accounting Research*, 49 (1), 69-96.

Campbell, John L., Dan S. Dhaliwal, and William C. Schwartz Jr. (2012), "Financing Constraints and the Cost of Capital: Evidence from the Funding of Corporate Pension Plans," *The Review of Financial Studies*, 25 (3), 868-912.

Carhart, Mark M. (1997), "On Persistence in Mutual Fund Performance," *The Journal of Finance*, 52 (1), 57-82.

Chakravarty, Anindita, and Rajdeep Grewal (2011), "The Stock Market in the Driver's Seat! Implications for R&D and Marketing," *Management Science*, 57 (9), 1594-1609.

Chen, Shuping, Bin Miao, and Terry Shevlin (2015), "A New Measure of Disclosure Quality: The Level of Disaggregation of Accounting Data in Annual Reports," *Journal of Accounting Research*, 53 (5), 1017-1054.

Cheng, Mei, Dan Dhaliwal, and Yuan Zhang (2013), "Does Investment Efficiency Improve after the Disclosure of Material Weaknesses in Internal Control over Financial Reporting?," *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 56 (1), 1-18.

Chung, Kee H., and Stephen W. Pruitt (1994), "A Simple Approximation of Tobin's q," *Financial Management*, 23 (3), 70-74.

Colgate Palmolive (2015), "Q2 Earnings Call," July 30, 2015

Collins, Daniel W., Stephen P. Kothari, and Judy Dawson Rayburn (1987), "Firm Size and the Information Content of Prices with Respect to Earnings," *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 9 (2), 111-138.

Collins, Daniel W., Morton Pincus, and Hong Xie (1999), "Equity Valuation and Negative Earnings: The Role of Book Value of Equity," *The Accounting Review*, 74 (1), 29-61.

Conchar, Margy P., Melvin R. Crask, and George M. Zinkhan (2005), "Market Valuation Models of the Effect of Advertising and Promotional Spending: A Review and Meta-Analysis," *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 33 (4), 445-460.

Cookson, J. Anthony (2017), "Leverage and Strategic Preemption: Lessons from Entry Plans and Incumbent Investments," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 123 (2), 292-312.

Danaher, Peter J., André Bonfrer, and Sanjay Dhar (2008), "The Effect of Competitive Advertising Interference on Sales for Packaged Goods," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 45 (2), 211-225.

Danaher, Peter J., Michael S. Smith, Kulan Ranasinghe, and Tracey S. Danaher (2015), "Where, When, and How Long: Factors That Influence the Redemption of Mobile Phone Coupons," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 52 (5), 710-725.

Datta, Hannes, Bram Foubert, and Harald J. Van Heerde (2015), "The Challenge of Retaining Customers Acquired with Free Trials," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 52(2), 217-234.

Deb, Palash, Parthiban David, and Jonathan O'Brien (2017), "When is Cash Good or Bad for Firm Performance?," *Strategic Management Journal*, 38 (2), 436-454.

DeFond, Mark L., and Mingyi Hung (2003), "An Empirical Analysis of Analysts' Cash Flow Forecasts," *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 35 (1), 73-100.

De Franco, G., H. Fogel-Yaari, and H. Li (2016), "MD&A Textual Similarity and Auditors," Working paper, Tulane University and Nanyang Technological University.

Dess, Gregory G., and Donald W. Beard (1984), "Dimensions of Organizational Task Environments," *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 29 (1), 52-73.

Dhaliwal, Dan S., Oliver Zhen Li, Albert Tsang, and Yong George Yang (2011), "Voluntary Nonfinancial Disclosure and the Cost of Equity Capital: The Initiation of Corporate Social Responsibility Reporting," *The Accounting Review*, 86 (1), 59-100.

Dhaliwal, Dan S., Phillip T. Lamoreaux, Lubomir P. Litov, and Jordan B. Neyland (2016), "Shared Auditors in Mergers and Acquisitions," *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 61 (1), 49-76.

Diageio (2016), "Brunchtime Call with the President," September 20, 2016

Dotzel, Thomas, Venkatesh Shankar, and Leonard L. Berry (2013), "Service Innovativeness and Firm Value," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 50 (2), 259-276.

Dougal, Casey, Christopher A. Parsons, and Sheridan Titman (2015), "Urban Vibrancy and Corporate Growth," *The Journal of Finance*, 70 (1), 163-210.

Draganska, Michaela and Daniel Klapper (2011), "Choice Set Heterogeneity and the Role of Advertising: An Analysis with Micro and Macro Data," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 48(4), 653-669.

Dye, Ronald A (199), "Mandatory Versus Voluntary Disclosures: The Cases of Financial and Real Externalities," *The Accounting Review*, 65 (1), 1-24.

Edeling, Alexander, and Marc Fischer (2016), "Marketing's Impact on Firm Value: Generalizations from a Meta-Analysis," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 53 (4), 515-534.

Ellis, Jesse A., C. Edward Fee, and Shawn E. Thomas (2012), "Proprietary Costs and the Disclosure of Information about Customers," *Journal of Accounting Research*, 50 (3), 685-727.

Enache, Luminita, and Anup Srivastava (2017), "Should Intangible Investments Be Reported Separately or Commingled with Operating Expenses? New Evidence," *Management Science*, Articles in Advance, (2017).

Fang, Eric, Jongkuk Lee, and Zhi Yang (2015), "The Timing of Codevelopment Alliances in New Product Development Processes: Returns for Upstream and Downstream Partners," *Journal of Marketing*, 79 (1), 64-82.

Fama, Eugene F., and Kenneth R. French (1993), "Common Risk Factors in the Returns on Stocks and Bonds," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 33 (1), 3-56.

Fang, Eric, Robert W. Palmatier, and Jan-Benedict EM Steenkamp (2008), "Effect of Service Transition Strategies on Firm Value," *Journal of Marketing*, 72 (5), 1-14.

Foster, George (1981), "Intra-Industry Information Transfers Associated with Earnings Releases," *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 3 (3), 201-232.

Francis, Jennifer, and Leonard Soffer (1997), "The Relative Informativeness of Analysts' Stock Recommendations and Earnings Forecast Revisions," *Journal of Accounting Research*, 35 (2), 193-211.

Francis, Jere R., Matthew L. Pinnuck, and Olena Watanabe (2014), "Auditor Style and Financial Statement Comparability," *The Accounting Review*, 89 (2), 605-633.

Frieder, Laura, and Avanidhar Subrahmanyam (2005), "Brand Perceptions and the Market for Common Stock," *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, 40 (1), 57-85.

Frennea, Carly, Kyuhong Han, and Vikas Mittal (2018), "Value Appropriation and Firm Shareholder Value: Role of Advertising and Receivables Management," *Journal of Marketing Research*, in-press.

Frost, Carol A (1997), "Disclosure Policy Choices of UK Firms Receiving Modified Audit Reports," *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 23(2), 163-187.

Germann, Frank, Peter Ebbes, and Rajdeep Grewal (2015), "The Chief Marketing Officer Matters!," *Journal of Marketing*, 79 (3), 1-22.

Glendening, Matthew, Elaine Mauldin, and Kenneth W. Shaw (2019), "Determinants and Consequences of Quantitative Critical Accounting Estimate Disclosures," *The Accounting Review*, In-Press.

Greve, Henrich R. (1998), "Managerial Cognition and the Mimetic Adoption of Market Positions: What You See Is What You Do," *Strategic Management Journal*, 19 (10), 967-988.

Greve, Henrich R. (2002), "An Ecological Theory of Spatial Evolution: Local Density Dependence in Tokyo Banking, 1894–1936," *Social Forces*, 80 (3), 847-879.

Grewal, Rajdeep, Murali Chandrashekaran, and Alka V. Citrin (2010), "Customer Satisfaction Heterogeneity and Shareholder Value," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 47 (4), 612-626.

Groening, Christopher, Vikas Mittal, and Yan "Anthea" Zhang (2016), "Cross-Validation of Customer and Employee Signals and Firm Valuation," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 53 (1), 61-76.

Gruca, Thomas S., and Lopo L. Rego (2005), "Customer Satisfaction, Cash Flow, and Shareholder Value," *Journal of Marketing*, 69 (3), 115-130.

Gu, Feng, and John Q. Li (2007), "The Credibility of Voluntary Disclosure and Insider Stock Transactions," *Journal of Accounting Research*, 45 (4), 771-810.

Han, Kyuhong, Vikas Mittal, and Yan Zhang (2017), "Relative Strategic Emphasis and Firm-Idiosyncratic Risk: The Moderating Role of Relative Performance and Demand Instability," *Journal of Marketing*, 81 (4), 25-44.

Hart, P. E. (1962), "The Size and Growth of Firms," *Economica*, 29 (113), 29-39.

Hayn, Carla (1995), "The Information Content of Losses," *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 20 (2), 125-153.

Healy, Paul M., and Krishna G. Palepu (2001), "Information Asymmetry, Corporate Disclosure, and the Capital Markets: A Review of the Empirical Disclosure Literature," *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 31 (1/3), 405–40.

Heckman, James, J. (1979), "Sample Selection Bias as a Specification Error," *Econometrica*, 47(1), 153-161.

Heeley, Michael B., Sharon F. Matusik, and Neelam Jain (2007), "Innovation, Appropriability, and the Underpricing of Initial Public Offerings," *Academy of Management Journal*, 50 (1), 209-225.

Heflin, Frank, K. R. Subramanyam, and Yuan Zhang (2003), "Regulation FD and the Financial Information Environment: Early Evidence," *The Accounting Review*, 78 (1), 1-37.

Heitzman, Shane, Charles Wasley, and Jerold Zimmerman (2010), "The Joint Effects of Materiality Thresholds and Voluntary Disclosure Incentives on Firms' Disclosure Decisions," *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 49 (1), 109-132.

Husted, Bryan W., Dima Jamali, and Walid Saffar (2016), "Near and Dear? The Role of Location in CSR Engagement," *Strategic Management Journal*, 37 (10), 2050-2070.

Jaworski, Bernard J., and Ajay K. Kohli (1993), "Market Orientation: Antecedents and Consequences," *Journal of Marketing*, 57 (3), 53-70.

Jindal, Niket, and Leigh McAlister (2015), "The Impacts of Advertising Assets and R&D Assets on Reducing Bankruptcy Risk," *Marketing Science*, 34 (4), 555-572.

John, Kose, Anzhela Knyazeva, and Diana Knyazeva (2011), "Does Geography Matter? Firm Location and Corporate Payout Policy," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 101 (3), 533-551.

Johnston, Joseph Atkins and Joseph Zhang (2018), "Auditor Style and Financial Reporting Similarity" Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3224602 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3224602

Joshi, Amit, and Dominique M. Hanssens (2010), "The Direct and Indirect Effects of Advertising Spending on Firm Value," *Journal of Marketing*, 74 (1), 20-33.

Katsikeas, Constantine S., Neil A. Morgan, Leonidas C. Leonidou, and G. Tomas M. Hult (2016), "Assessing Performance Outcomes in Marketing," *Journal of Marketing*, 80 (2), 1-20.

Kedia, Simi, and Shiva Rajgopal (2009), "Neighborhood Matters: The Impact of Location on Broad Based Stock Option Plans." Journal of Financial Economics 92, no. 1 (2009): 109-127.

Kim, MinChung, and Leigh M. McAlister (2011), "Stock Market Reaction to Unexpected Growth in Marketing Expenditure: Negative for Sales Force, Contingent on Spending Level for Advertising," *Journal of Marketing*, 75 (4), 68-85.

Kim, Dongcheol, and Yaxuan Qi (2010), "Accruals Quality, Stock Returns, and Macroeconomic Conditions," *The Accounting Review*, 85 (3), 937-978.

Kini, Omesh, Jaideep Shenoy, and Venkat Subramaniam (2017), "Impact of Financial Leverage on the Incidence and Severity of Product Failures: Evidence from Product Recalls," *The Review of Financial Studies*, 30 (5), 1790-1829.

Kirk, Marcus (2011), "Research for Sale: Determinants and Consequences of Paid-for Analyst Research," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 100 (1), 182-200.

Kothari, S. P., Karthik Ramanna, and Douglas J. Skinner (2010), "Implications for GAAP from An Analysis of Positive Research in Accounting," *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 50 (2-3), 246-286.

Kumar, Krishna R., and Gopal V. Krishnan (2008), "The Value-Relevance of Cash Flows and Accruals: The Role of Investment Opportunities," *The Accounting Review*, 83 (4), 997-1040.

Kurt, Didem, and John Hulland (2013), "Aggressive Marketing Strategy Following Equity Offerings and Firm Value: The Role of Relative Strategic Flexibility," *Journal of Marketing*, 77 (5), 57-74.

Kwak, Byungjin, Byung T. Ro, and Inho Suk (2012), "The Composition of Top Management with General Counsel and Voluntary Information Disclosure," *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 54 (1), 19-41.

Lang, Mark H., and Russell J. Lundholm (1996), "Corporate Disclosure Policy and Analyst Behavior," *The Accounting Review*, 71 (4), 467-492.

Legoria, Joseph (2005), "The Voluntary Disclosure of Advertising Expenditures: The Case of the Pharmaceutical Industry and Healthcare Reform," *Advances in Accounting*, 21, 113-146.

Lehavy, Reuven, Feng Li, and Kenneth Merkley (2011), "The Effect of Annual Report Readability on Analyst Following and the Properties of Their Earnings Forecasts," *The Accounting Review*, 86 (3), 1087-115.

Lev, Baruch (2001), *Intangibles: Management, Measurement, and Reporting*. Washington, DC: Brookings Institute.

Lev, Baruch (2018), "Intangibles," Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3218586 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3218586.

Li, Xi, and Holly I. Yang (2016), "Mandatory Financial Reporting and Voluntary Disclosure: The Effect of Mandatory IFRS Adoption on Management Forecasts," *The Accounting Review*, 91 (3), 933-953.

Lim, Chee Yeow and Terry J. Shevlin and Kun Wang and Yanping Xu (2018), "Tax Knowledge Diffusion Through Individual Auditor Network Ties: Evidence from China" Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3229564 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3229564

Luo, Xueming, and Pieter J. de Jong (2012), "Does Advertising Spending Really Work? The Intermediate Role of Analysts in the Impact of Advertising on Firm Value," *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 40 (4), 605-624.

Malshe, Ashwin, and Manoj K. Agarwal (2015), "From Finance to Marketing: The Impact of Financial Leverage on Customer Satisfaction," *Journal of Marketing*, 79 (5), 21-38.

Mathur, Lynette Knowles and Ike Mathur (2000), "An Analysis of the Wealth Effects of Green Marketing Strategies," *Journal of Business Research*, 50 (2), 193–200.

Matsumoto, Dawn, Matthew Serfling and Sarah Shaikh (2018), "Geographic Peer Effects in Management Earnings Forecasts," Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3025002 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3025002.

McAlister, Leigh, Raji Srinivasan, Niket Jindal, and Albert A. Cannella (2016), "Advertising Effectiveness: The Moderating Effect of Firm Strategy," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 53 (2), 207-224.

McAlister, Leigh, Raji Srinivasan, and MinChung Kim (2007), "Advertising, Research and Development, and Systematic Risk of the Firm," *Journal of Marketing*, 71 (1), 35-48.

Messersmith, Jake G., Jeong-Yeon Lee, James P. Guthrie, and Yong-Yeon Ji (2014), "Turnover at the Top: Executive Team Departures and Firm Performance," *Organization Science*, 25 (3), 776-793.

Minnis, Michael (2011), "The Value of Financial Statement Verification in Debt Financing: Evidence from Private U.S. Firms," *Journal of Accounting Research*, 49 (2), 457-506.

Mizik, Natalie, and Doron Nissim (2011), "Accounting for Marketing Activities: Implications for Marketing Research and Practice," Marketing Science Institute Working Paper Series Report No. 11-103, Marketing Science Institute.

Muslu, Volkan, Suresh Radhakrishnan, K. R. Subramanyam, and Dongkuk Lim (2014), "Forward-Looking MD&A Disclosures and the Information Environment," *Management Science*, 61 (5), 931-948.

Nagar, Venky, Dhananjay Nanda, and Peter Wysocki (2003), "Discretionary Disclosure and Stock-Based Incentives," *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 34 (1), 283-309.

O'Reilly, Lara (2016), "Apple Mysteriously Stopped Disclosing How Much It Spends on Ads," (accessed November 24, 2016), *Business Insider*, [available at http://www.businessinsider.com/apple-stopped-disclosing-ad-spend-2016-11].

Osinga, Ernst C., Peter SH Leeflang, Shuba Srinivasan, and Jaap E. Wieringa (2011), "Why Do Firms Invest in Consumer Advertising with Limited Sales Response? A Shareholder Perspective," *Journal of Marketing*, 75 (1), 109-124.

PepsiCo (2017), "Annual Shareholders Meeting - Final", May 3, 2017

Petacchi, Reining (2015), "Information Asymmetry and Capital Structure: Evidence from Regulation FD," *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 59 (2), 143-162.

Peters, Ryan H., and Lucian A. Taylor (2017), "Intangible Capital and the Investment-q Relation," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 123 (2), 251-272.

Petrin, Amil, and Kenneth Train (2010), "A Control Function Approach to Endogeneity in Consumer Choice Models," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 47 (1), 3-13.

Procter and Gamble (2016a), "Event Brief of Q4 2016 Procter & Gamble Co Earnings Call – Final", August, 2016

Procter and Gamble (2016b), "Analyst Meeting – Final", November 18, 2016.

Ptok, Annette, Rupinder P. Jindal, and Werner J. Reinartz (2019), "Selling, General, and Administrative expense (SGA)-Based Metrics in Marketing: Conceptual and Measurement Challenges," *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 46 (6), 987-1011.

Rego, Lopo L., Matthew T. Billett, and Neil A. Morgan (2009), "Consumer-Based Brand Equity and Firm Risk," *Journal of Marketing*, 73 (6), 47-60.

Rossi, Peter E. (2014), "Even the Rich Can Make Themselves Poor: A Critical Examination of IV Methods in Marketing Applications," *Marketing Science*, 33 (5), 655-672.

Rust, Roland T., Katherine N. Lemon, and Valarie A. Zeithaml (2004), "Return on Marketing: Using Customer Equity to Focus Marketing Strategy," *Journal of Marketing*, 68 (1), 109-127.

Saboo, Alok R., and Rajdeep Grewal (2013), "Stock Market Reactions to Customer and Competitor Orientations: The Case of Initial Public Offerings," *Marketing Science*, 32(1), 70-88.

Sadka, Ronnie, and Anna Scherbina (2007), "Analyst Disagreement, Mispricing, and Liquidity," *The Journal of Finance*, 62 (5), 2367-2403.

Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) (1994), "Financial Statements of Significant Foreign Equity Investees and Acquired Foreign Businesses of Domestic Issuers and Financial Schedules," Release No. 33-7119, File No. S7-12-94, [available at https://www.sec.gov/rules/final/dissuer.txt].

Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) (1999), "Materiality," SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 99, [available at https://www.sec. gov/interps/account/sab99.htm].

Sheth, Jagdish N. and Rajendra S. Sisodia (2002), *The Rule of Three: Surviving and Thriving in Competitive Markets*. New York: The Free Press.

Shi, Huanhuan and Rajdeep Grewal and Shrihari Sridhar (2019), "Organizational Herding in Advertising Spending Disclosures: Evidence and Mechanisms", Mays Business School Research Paper No. 3071616; Kenan Institute of Private Enterprise Research Paper Forthcoming. Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3071616 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3071616

Shroff, Nemit, Amy X. Sun, Hal D. White, and Weining Zhang (2013), "Voluntary Disclosure and Information Asymmetry: Evidence from the 2005 Securities Offering Reform," *Journal of Accounting Research*, 51 (5), 1299-1345.

Shroff, Nemit, Rodrigo S. Verdi, and Benjamin P. Yost (2017), "When Does the Peer Information Environment Matter?," *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 64 (2-3), 183-214.

Simpson, Ana (2008), "Voluntary Disclosure of Advertising Expenditures," *Journal of Accounting, Auditing and Finance*, 23 (3), 403-436.

Simpson, Ana (2010), "Analysts' Use of Nonfinancial Information Disclosures," *Contemporary Accounting Research*, 27 (1), 249-288.

Sine, Wesley D., Heather A. Haveman, and Pamela S. Tolbert (2005) "Risky Business? Entrepreneurship in the New Independent-Power Sector," *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 50 (2), 200-232.

Slotegraaf, Rebecca J., Christine Moorman, and J. Jeffrey Inman (2003), "The Role of Firm Resources in Returns to Market Deployment," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 40 (3), 295-309.

Sridhar, Shrihari, Frank Germann, Charles Kang, and Rajdeep Grewal (2016), "Relating Online, Regional, and National Advertising to Firm Value," *Journal of Marketing*, 80(4), 39-55.

Srinivasan, Shuba, and Dominique M. Hanssens (2009), "Marketing and Firm Value: Metrics, Methods, Findings, and Future Directions," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 46(3), 293-312.

Srinivasan, Raji, Gary L. Lilien, and Shrihari Sridhar (2011), "Should Firms Spend More on Research and Development and Advertising During Recessions?," *Journal of Marketing*, 75 (3), 49-65.

Srinivasan, Raji, and Debika Sihi (2012), "Marketing Information Disclosures: A Review and Research Agenda," in *Handbook of Marketing and Finance*, Shankar Ganesan, Eds. Northampton, MA: Edward Edgar Publishing Limited.

Steenkamp, Jan-Benedict E.M. and Eric Fang (2011), "The Impact of Economic Contractions on the Effectiveness of R&D and Advertising: Evidence from U.S. Companies Spanning Three Decades," *Marketing Science*, 30(4), 628-645.

Stewart, David W., and Craig T. Gugel, eds. (2016), *Accountable Marketing: Linking Marketing Actions to Financial Performance*. London: Routledge.

Terza, Joseph V., Anirban Basu, and Paul J. Rathouz (2008), "Two-Stage Residual Inclusion Estimation: Addressing Endogeneity in Health Econometric Modeling," *Journal of Health Economics*, 27 (3), 531-543.

Tuli, Kapil R., Sundar G. Bharadwaj, and Ajay K. Kohli (201), "Ties That Bind: The Impact of Multiple Types of Ties with a Customer on Sales Growth and Sales Volatility," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 47 (1), 36-50.

Vorhies, Douglas W., Robert E. Morgan, and Chad W. Autry (2009), "Product-Market Strategy and the Marketing Capabilities of the Firm: Impact on Market Effectiveness and Cash Flow Performance," *Strategic Management Journal*, 30 (12), 1310-1334.

Wooldridge, Jeffrey M. (2010), *Econometric Analysis of Cross Section and Panel Data* (2nd ed.). Cambridge: The MIT Press.

Zhang, X. Frank (2006), "Information Uncertainty and Stock Returns," *The Journal of Finance*, 61 (1), 105-137.

Zhao, Eric Yanfei, Greg Fisher, Michael Lounsbury, and Danny Miller (2017), "Optimal Distinctiveness: Broadening the Interface Between Institutional Theory and Strategic Management," *Strategic Management Journal*, 38 (1), 93-113.

TABLE 1 MEASURES, DATA SOURCES, AND SUPPORTING LITERATURE FOR CONROL VARIABLES

Variable	Measure	Data Source	Supporting Literature
Analyst Following _{i,j,t-1}	Natural log of the number of analysts reporting earnings forecasts of a firm between the day of the release of the firm's annual report and the day before the release of the firm's annual report in the following year	I/B/E/S	Lehavy, Li, and Merkley (2011); Lang and Lundholm (1996)
Disclosure Quality _{i,j,t-1}	The level of disaggregation of the financial report of a firm	COMPUSTAT	Chen, Miao, and Shevlin (2015)
SG&A _{i,j,t-1}	Selling, general, and administrative expense, scaled by total assets	COMPUSTAT	Ptok, Jindal, and Reinartz (2018)
Firm Size _{i,j,t-1}	Natural log of total assets	COMPUSTAT	Rego, Billett, and Morgan (2009)
Leverage _{i,j,t-1}	Total long-term debt, scaled by total assets	COMPUSTAT	Li and Yang (2016); McAlister et al. (2016)
Liquidity _{i,j,t-1}	Ratio of current assets to current liabilities	COMPUSTAT	McAlister, Srinivasan, and Kim (2007)
Competitive Intensity _{j,t-1}	The Herfindahl-Hirschmann index (i.e., the sum of the squares of firms' market shares in an industry) subtracted from 1	COMPUSTAT	Deb, David, and O'Brien (2017); Fang, Lee, and Yang (2015)
Industry Growth _{j,t-1}	Natural log of sales of an industry in the current fiscal year less natural log of sales of an industry in the prior year	COMPUSTAT	Dotzel, Shankar, and Berry (2013)
Demand Uncertainty _{j,t-1}	The standard deviation of 5-year industry sales, scaled by the average of 5-year industry sales.	COMPUSTAT	Fang, Palmatier, and Steenkamp (2008)

 TABLE 2

 DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS AND CORRELATION MATRIX

						Correlation													
Variable	п	Mean	SD	Min	Max	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14
1. Investors' Uncertainty _{i,j,t}	20,237	0.021	0.010	0.008	0.129	1.000													
2. Analysts' Uncertainty $_{i,j,t}$	20,237	0.110	0.169	0.000	1.637	.106 1.	.000												
3. AD _{i,j,t-1}	20,237	0.408	0.491	0.000	1.000	027	.063 1	.000											
4. Cash Flows _{i,j,t-1}	20,237	0.111	0.075	-0.690	0.354	151	.042	.077	1.000										
5. Intangible Assets _{i,j,t-1}	20,237	0.709	0.224	0.084	1.000	002	.209	.120	153	1.000									
6. Peer Disclosure _{i,j,t-1}	20,237	0.371	0.318	0.000	1.000	051	.100	.467	.081	.136	1.000								
7. Analyst Following _{i,j,t-1}	20,237	2.385	0.787	0.000	3.689	181	.082	.094	.185	112	.060	1.000							
8. Disclosure Quality _{i,j,t-1}	20,237	0.681	0.111	0.196	0.868	260	.004	.250	.056	.341	.321	.053	1.000						
9. SG&A _{i,j,t-1}	20,237	0.250	0.201	0.009	1.674	.139 -	.181	.320	.143	.282	.343	113	.068	1.000					
10. Firm Size _{i,j,t-1}	20,237	7.433	1.427	3.346	11.483	361	.169	.051	.002	138	.021	.637	.087	303	1.000				
11. Leverage _{i,j,t-1}	20,237	0.206	0.180	0.000	0.864	.029	.145 -	.057	188	302	064	.016	175	289	.198	1.000			
12. Liquidity _{i,j,t-1}	20,237	2.223	1.460	0.178	22.955	.054	.055	.009	011	.299	042	074	.184	.025	260	233	1.000		
13. Competitive Intensity _{j,t-1}	20,237	0.684	0.216	0.000	0.969	.056	.054	.002	.079	085	086	.188	024	030	.042	.006	.053	1.000	
14. Industry $Growth_{i,j,t-1}$	20,237	0.062	0.181	-0.771	0.886	.037	.028 -	.040	.001	.018	056	004	110	002	038	032	014	.012	1.000
15. Demand Uncertainty _{j,t-1}	20,237	0.181	0.131	0.029	0.965	.202	.046 -	.151	031	062	197	084	205	091	130	013	.007	073	.290

Notes: a. I winsorize all continuous variables at 1% to rule out the influence of outliers.

b. Correlations in bold are significant at p < .05 (two-tailed) and in italic are significant at p < .10 (two-tailed).

c. SD = standard deviation; $AD_{i,j,t-1}$ is disclosure of advertising spending and SG&A_{i,j,t-1} is selling, general, and administrative expense, scaled by total assets for firm *i* in industry *j* at fiscal year *t*-1.

d. n = the number of firm-year observations.
$Dependent Variable = AD_{i,j,t-1}$			
Independent Variables	Coeff.	SE	
Geographic Peer Disclosure _{i,j,t-1}	1.130	.520**	
Auditor Peer Disclosure _{i,j,t-1}	3.859	.566****	
Cash Flows _{i,j,t-1}	.040	.296	
Intangible Assets _{i,j,t-1}	104	.153	
Peer Disclosure _{i,j,t-1}	1.651	.102****	
Analyst Following $_{i,j,t-1}$.063	.042	
Disclosure Quality _{i,j,t-1}	2.490	.391****	
SG&A _{i,j,t-1}	1.895	.180****	
Firm Size _{i,j,t-1}	.094	.029***	
Leverage _{i,j,t-1}	.435	.147***	
Liquidity _{i,j,t-1}	.026	.018	
Competitive Intensity _{j,t-1}	.216	.141	
Industry Growth _{j,t-1}	.005	.061	
Demand Uncertainty _{j,t-1}	314	.160*	
Intercept	.507	.152***	
Year Fixed Effects		Yes	
Number of Firm-Year Observations (Number of Firms)	20,237 (2,523)		
Wald χ^2 (df)	868.	56 (35)****	
Log Pseudolikelihood	-10	,312.64	

TABLE 3RESULTS OF FIRST STAGE PROBIT MODEL

a. $AD_{i,j,t-1} = disclosure of advertising spending for firm$ *i*in industry*j*at fiscal year*t*-1.b. Geographic Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t-1} = the proportion of non-industry geographic peer firms that disclose advertising spending; Auditor Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t-1} = the proportion of non-industry auditor peer firms that disclose advertising spending; Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t-1} = the proportion of peer firms in an industry that disclose advertising spending in their annual reports for firm*i*in industry*j*at fiscal year*t*-1.

c. SE = standard error; SG&A = selling, general, and administrative expense, scaled by total asset.

d. I use the clustered robust standard errors of the estimates at the firm level.

e. I mean center all continuous variables.

f. * p <.10, ** p <.05, *** p <.01, **** p <.001 (two-tailed).

TABLE 4 THE EFFECTS OF DISCLOSURE OF ADVERTISING SPENDING ON INVESTORS' AND ANALYSTS' UNCERTAINTY

	$DV = Investors' Uncertainty_{i,j,t}$				$DV = Analysts' Uncertainty_{i,j,t}$			
	Model 1:	Model 2:		Model 3:	Model 4:			
	Main Effect Model	Full Model		Main Effect Model	Full Model			
Variable	Coeff. SE	Coeff. SE		Coeff. SE	Coeff. SE			
$\mathrm{AD}_{\mathrm{i},\mathrm{j},\mathrm{t-1}}$	001 .000****	001 .000***	H1a: Supported	019 .005****	019 .005****	H1b: Supported		
$AD_{i,j,t\text{-}1} \times Cash \ Flows_{i,j,t\text{-}1}$		005 .002**	H2a: Supported		073 .026***	H2b: Supported		
$AD_{i,j,t-1} \times Intangible Assets_{i,j,t-1}$		004 .001****	H3a: Supported		012 .019	H3b: Not Supported		
$AD_{i,j,t-1} \times Peer \ Disclosure_{j,t-1}$.000 .001	H4a: Not Supported		.025 .008***	H4b: Supported		
Cash Flows _{i,j,t-1}	012 .001****	010 .001****		.010 .015	.040 .020**			
Intangible Assets _{i,j,t-1}	002 .001**	001 .001		048 .017***	043 .017**			
Peer Disclosure _{j,t-1}	.000.000	.000. 000.		011 .006*	023 .007***			
Analyst Following _{i,j,t-1}	.000 .000***	.000 .000***		.001 .003	.001 .003			
Disclosure Quality _{i,j,t-1}	004 .001***	004 .001***		065 .018****	062 .018***			
SG&A _{i,j,t-1}	.006 .001****	.006 .001****		.086 .012****	.086 .013****			
Firm Size _{i,j,t-1}	001 .000****	001 .000****		.047 .003****	.047 .003****			
Leverage _{i,j,t-1}	.006 .001****	.006 .001****		.015 .011	.015 .010			
Liquidity _{i,j,t-1}	.000 .000****	.000 .000****		.002 .001**	.002 .001**			
Competitive Intensity _{j,t-1}	001 .001	001 .001		.001 .010	.001 .009			
Industry Growth _{i,j,t-1}	001 .000****	002 .000****		002 .004	002 .004			
Demand Uncertainty _{j,t-1}	.004 .001****	.004 .001****		.038 .009****	.037 .008****			
PR_AD _{i,j,t-1}	.000 .000	.000 .000		.002 .005	.002 .005			
Intercept	002 .000****	002 .000****		017 .006***	018 .006***			
Firm Fixed Effects	Yes	Yes		Yes	Yes			
Year Fixed Effects	Yes	Yes		Yes	Yes			
Number of Observations	20,237	20,237		20,237	20,237			
(Number of Firms)	(2,523)	(2,523)		(2,523)	(2,523)			
Wald γ^2 (df)	11,459.97 (35)****	14,729.11 (38)****		2,276.10 (35)****	2,318.38 (38)****			

Notes: a. DV = dependent variable; SE = standard error; $AD_{i,j,t-1}$ is disclosure of advertising spending for firm *i* in industry *j* at fiscal year *t-1*.

b. SG&A is selling, general and administrative expense, scaled by total assets; PR_AD_{i,j,t-1} is the probit residual of AD_{i,j,t-1}.

c. I use the clustered robust standard errors of estimates at the firm level and use $2\overline{00}$ bootstrapping replications to calculate the standard errors.

d. I mean center all continuous variables; e. * p < .10, ** p < .05, *** p < .01, **** p < .001 (two-tailed).

$\overline{DV} = IU_{i,j,t}$	Model 2:	Model 5:	Model 6:	Model 7:	Model 8:	Model 9:	Model 10:
	Full Model	Alternative DV	Geographic	Auditor Peers	Lag of	Random	NAICS3
		from FF3	Peers		Instruments	Effects	
Variable	Coeff.						
AD _{i,j,t-1}	001***	001***	001***	001***	001***	001***	001***
$AD_{i,j,t-1} \times Cash Flows_{i,j,t-1}$	005**	005***	005**	005***	005***	005***	006***
$AD_{i,j,t-1} \times Intangible Assets_{i,j,t-1}$	004****	004****	004****	004****	004****	003***	003****
$AD_{i,j,t-1} \times Peer Disclosure_{j,t-1}$.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000
Cash Flows _{i,j,t-1}	010****	010****	010****	010****	010****	013****	011****
Intangible Assets _{i,j,t-1}	001	001	001	001	001	.000	002**
Peer Disclosure _{j,t-1}	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	007****
Analyst Following _{i,j,t-1}	.000***	.000**	.000***	.000****	.000****	.000	001****
Disclosure Quality _{i,j,t-1}	004***	003***	004***	004***	004***	004****	002**
SG&A _{i,j,t-1}	.006****	.006****	.006****	.006****	.006****	.005****	.006****
Firm Size _{i,j,t-1}	001****	001****	001****	001****	001****	002****	001****
Leverage _{i,j,t-1}	.006****	.006****	.006****	.006****	.006****	.005****	.006****
Liquidity _{i,j,t-1}	.000****	.000****	.000****	.000****	.000****	.000***	.000****
Competitive Intensity _{j,t-1}	001	001	001	001	001*	.002****	003**
Industry Growth _{i,j,t-1}	002****	001****	002****	002****	001****	001****	003****
Demand Uncertainty _{j,t-1}	.004****	.004****	.004****	.004****	.004****	.005****	.005****
PR_AD _{i,j,t-1}	.000	.000	.000*	.000	.000*	.001**	.000
Intercept	002****	002****	002****	002****	002****	002****	003****
Firm Fixed Effects	Yes						
Year Fixed Effects	Yes						
Number of Observations (Number of Firms)	20,237 (2,523)	20,237 (2,523)	20,237 (2,523)	20,237 (2,523)	20,237 (2,523)	20,237 (2,523)	22,425 (2,716)
Wald χ^2	14,729.11	15,743.30	13,425.44	10,716.20	13,950.80	16,453.02	12,955.87
(df)	(38)****	(38)****	(38)****	(38)****	(38)****	(38)****	(38)****

TABLE 5ROBUSTNESS ANALYSES FOR INVESTORS' UNCERTAINTY (IU)

Notes: a. DV = dependent variable; FF3 = Fama and French three-factor model; NAICS3 = three-digit North American Industry Classification System; $AD_{i,j,t-1}$ is disclosure of advertising spending for firm *i* in industry *j* at fiscal year *t-1*; SG&A is selling, general and administrative expense, scaled by total assets; PR_AD_{i,j,t-1} is the probit residual of $AD_{i,j,t-1}$; To generate PR_AD_{i,j,t-1}; Geographic Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t-1} is used for Model 6, Auditor Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t-1} for Model 7, and Geographic Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t-2}, and Auditor Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t-2} for Model 8.

c. I use the clustered robust standard errors of the estimates at the firm level and use 200 bootstrapping replications to calculate the standard errors.

d. I mean center all continuous variables; * p < .10, ** p < .05, *** p < .01, **** p < .001 (one-tailed for Model 5-Model 10 and two-tailed for Model 2).

$DV = AU_{i,j,t}$	Model 4:	Model 11:	Model 12:	Model 13:	Model 14:	Model 15:	Model 16:
	Full Model	Without Log	Geographic	Auditor Peers	Lag of	Random	NAICS3
		Transformation	Peers		Instruments	Effects	
Variable	Coeff.						
AD _{i,j,t-1}	019****	037****	018****	019****	019****	019****	019****
$AD_{i,j,t-1} \times Cash Flows_{i,j,t-1}$	073***	106***	073***	073***	073***	078***	063***
$AD_{i,j,t-1} \times Intangible Assets_{i,j,t-1}$	012	.026	012	012	012	.010	.000
$AD_{i,j,t-1} \times Peer Disclosure_{j,t-1}$.025***	.045***	.025***	.025***	.025***	.023***	.027***
Cash Flows _{i,j,t-1}	.040**	.073**	.039**	.040**	.040**	.020	.030*
Intangible Assets _{i,j,t-1}	043**	072**	043***	043***	043**	089****	078****
Peer Disclosure _{j,t-1}	023***	039***	024****	023****	023***	032****	083****
Analyst Following _{i,j,t-1}	.001	004	.001	.001	.001	001	.002
Disclosure Quality _{i,j,t-1}	062***	083***	064****	063***	062***	093****	045**
SG&A _{i,j,t-1}	.086****	.131****	.085****	.086****	.086****	.035****	.089****
Firm Size _{i,j,t-1}	.047****	.063****	.047****	.047****	.047****	.034****	.047****
Leverage _{i,j,t-1}	.015	.030*	.015*	.015*	.015*	.024***	.018**
Liquidity _{i,j,t-1}	.002**	.003**	.002**	.002**	.002**	.002***	.002***
Competitive Intensity _{j,t-1}	.001	001	.001	.001	.001	.014**	.003
Industry Growth _{i,j,t-1}	002	.004	002	002	002	003	.014*
Demand Uncertainty _{j,t-1}	.037****	.050****	.037****	.037****	.037****	.044****	.070****
PR_AD _{i,j,t-1}	.002	.000	.000	.002	.002	.002	.004
Intercept	018***	018**	018***	018***	017***	016***	031****
Firm Fixed Effects	Yes						
Year Fixed Effects	Yes						
Number of Observations (Number of Firms)	20,237 (2,523)	20,237 (2,523)	20,237 (2,523)	20,237 (2,523)	20,237 (2,523)	20,237 (2,523)	22,425 (2,716)
Wald χ^2	2,318.38	1,329.57	2,314.61	2,508.80	2,468.27	4,421.38	2,509.31
<u>(df)</u>	(38)****	(38)****	(38)****	(38)****	(38)****	(38)****	(38)****

 TABLE 6

 ROBUSTNESS ANALYSES FOR ANALYSTS' UNCERTAINTY (AU)

Notes: a. DV = dependent variable; NAICS3 = three-digit North American Industry Classification System; $AD_{i,j,t-1}$ is disclosure of advertising spending for firm *i* in industry *j* at fiscal year *t-1*; SG&A is selling, general and administrative expense, scaled by total assets; $PR_AD_{i,j,t-1}$ is the probit residual of $AD_{i,j,t-1}$; To generate $PR_AD_{i,j,t-1}$, Geographic Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t-1} is used for Model 12, Auditor Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t-1} for Model 13, and Geographic Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t-2}, and Auditor Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t-2} for Model 14.

c. I use the clustered robust standard errors of the estimates at the firm level and use 200 bootstrapping replications to calculate the standard errors.

d. I mean center all continuous variables; * p < .10, ** p < .05, *** p < .01, **** p < .001 (one-tailed for Model 11-Model 16 and two-tailed for Model 4).

						Correlation									
Variable	n	Mean	SD	Min	Max	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1. Firm Value _{i,j,t}	11,096	1.614	1.414	180	12.355	1.000									
2. Advertising _{i,j,t}	11,096	3.299	2.023	-4.962	7.186	.059	1.000								
3. Intangible $Assets_{i,j,t}$	11,096	.742	.209	.084	1.000	.060	124	1.000							
4. Cash Flows _{i,j,t}	11,096	.113	.081	690	.354	.451	.063	149	1.000						
5. Leverage _{i,j,t}	11,096	.365	.763	.000	7.703	225	.050	214	240	1.000					
6. Peer Advertising _{i,j,t}	11,096	3.482	1.835	-2.733	6.619	.029	.372	108	.030	.036	1.000				
7. Competitive Intensity _{i,j,t}	11,096	.706	.202	.000	.969	.070	096	059	.044	.018	.135	1.000			
8. Industry $Growth_{i,j,t}$	11,096	.052	.162	771	.886	.070	002	.030	001	048	.008	.030	1.000		
9. Firm Age _{i,j,t}	11,096	2.722	.885	.693	4.263	100	.257	064	.064	032	.059	079	069	1.000	
10. Firm Size _{i,j,t}	11,096	7.449	1.508	3.669	11.483	.021	.687	058	001	.105	.238	.015	018	.337	1.000
11. Liquidity _{i,j,t-1}	11,096	2.173	1.478	.178	17.787	.082	297	.329	010	163	132	.043	.003	048	218

 TABLE 7

 DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS AND CORRELATION MATRIX

Notes: a. I winsorize all continuous variables at 1% to rule out the influence of outliers.

b. Correlations in bold are significant at p < .05 (two-tailed) and in italic are significant at p < .10 (two-tailed).

c. SD = standard deviation.

d. n = the number of firm-year observations.

$Dependent \ variable = AD_{i,j,t}$				
Independent Variables	Coeff.	SE		
Geographic Peer Disclosure _{i,j,t}	1.734	0.433****		
Auditor Peer Disclosure _{i,j,t}	2.904	0.419****		
Peer Disclosure _{i,j,t}	2.097	0.080****		
Intangible Assets _{i,j,t}	.501	0.113****		
Cash Flows _{i,j,t}	.934	0.225****		
Leverage _{i,j,t}	.014	0.024		
Competitive Intensity _{j,t}	.305	0.118**		
Industry Growth _{j,t}	100	0.049**		
Firm Age _{i,j,t}	.039	0.019		
Firm Size _{i,j,t}	023	0.026**		
Liquidity _{ijt}	.002	0.014		
Intercept	-2.863	0.209****		
Year Fixed Effects	Y	es		
Number of Observations (Number of Firms)	31,151 (3,929)			
Wald χ^2 (df)	$\frac{1}{2}^{2}$ (df) 1,146.41 (32)****			
Log Pseudolikelihood	-16,43	55.971		

TABLE 8SELECTION MODEL RESULTS

Notes:

a. SE = standard errors; AD_{i,j,t} is disclosure of advertising spending for firm *i* in industry *j* in fiscal year *t*.

b. Geographic Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t} = the proportion of non-industry geographic peer firms that disclose advertising spending; Auditor Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t} = the proportion of non-industry auditor peer firms that disclose advertising spending; Peer Disclosure_{i,j,t} = the proportion of peer firms in an industry that disclose advertising spending in their annual reports for firm *i* in industry *j* at fiscal year *t*. c. The standard errors are clustered at the firm level; All continuous variables are mean centered.

d. * p < .10, ** p < .05, *** p < .01, **** p < .001.

$Dependent Variable = Advertising_{i,j,t}$		
Independent Variables	Coeff.	SE
Geographic Peer Advertising _{i,j,t}	.048	.023**
Auditor Peer Advertising _{i,j,t}	.066	.024***
Intangible Assets _{i,j,t}	669	.257***
Cash Flows _{i,j,t}	.002	.144
Leverage _{i,j,t}	025	.015*
Peer Advertising _{i,j,t}	.039	.015**
Competitive Intensity _{j,t}	064	.191
Industry Growth _{j,t}	054	.033
Firm Age _{i,j,t}	.111	.048**
Firm Size _{i,j,t}	.612	.041***
Liquidity _{i,j,t}	029	.013**
Intercept	.115	.078
Firm Fixed Effects		Yes
Year Fixed Effects		Yes
Number of Observations (Number of Firms)	11,09	6 (1,566)
F-statistics	F (42, 1,50	65) = 34.59****

 TABLE 9

 RESULTS OF FIRST STAGE AUXILIARY REGRESSION MODEL

a. SE = standard errors.

b. Geographic Peer Advertising_{i,j,t} is the average of advertising spending of non-industry geographic peers within the same sales decile; Auditor Peer Advertising_{i,j,t} is the average of advertising spending of non-industry auditor peers within the same sales decile; Peer Advertising_{i,j,t} is the average of advertising spending of peers in an industry for firm *i* in industry *j* at fiscal year *t*.

c. The standard errors are clustered at the firm level; All continuous variables are mean centered.

d. * p < .10, ** p < .05, *** p < .01, **** p < .001 (two-tailed).

$DV = FV_{i,j,t}$	Model 1: Main Effect Model		Model 2: Full Model		
Variable	Coeff.	SE	Coeff.	SE	
Advertising _{i,j,t}	.740	.216****	.757	.197****	H1: Supported
$Advertising_{i,j,t} \times Intangible \ Assets_{i,j,t}$.145	.072**	H2: Supported
$Advertising_{i,j,t} \times Cash \ Flows_{i,j,t}$.576	.112****	H3: Supported
$Advertising_{i,j,t} \times Leverage_{i,j,t}$.044	.008****	H4: Not Supported
$Advertising_{i,j,t} \times Peer \ Advertising_{i,j,t}$			011	.006*	H5: Supported
$Advertising_{i,j,t} \times Competitive \ Intensity_{i,j,t}$			052	.065	H6: Not Supported
$Advertising_{i,j,t} \times Indutry \ Grwoth_{i,j,t}$.040	.031	H7: Not Supported
Intangible Asset _{i,j,t}	.838	.277***	.873	.260***	
Cash Flows _{i,j,t}	3.808	.266****	3.965	.255****	
Leverage _{i,j,t}	030	.018*	049	.017***	
Peer Advertising _{i,j,t}	032	.020	033	.020*	
Competitive Intensity _{j,t}	252	.171	189	.170	
Industry Growth _{j,t}	.281	.064****	.280	.064****	
Firm Age _{i,j,t}	469	.059****	473	.072****	
Firm Size _{i,j,t}	923	.153****	935	.139****	
Liquidity _{i,j,t}	.047	.017***	.048	.017***	
Inverse Mills Ratio _{i,j,t}	152	.061**	167	.061***	
Control Function _{i,j,t}	681	.215***	702	.196****	
Intercept	301	.104***	276	.108**	
Firm Fixed Effects	Y	'es		Yes	
Year Fixed Effects	Y	/es		Yes	
Number of Observations (Number of Firms)	11,096 (1,566)		11 (1	,096 ,566)	
Wald χ^2 (df)	1,21	1.79 (33)****	1,517.93 (33)****		

TABLE 10THE EFFECT OF ADVERTISING SPENDING ON FIRM VALUE

a. DV = dependent variable; SE = standard errors; $FV_{i,j,t}$ is firm value measured by tobin's q for firm *i* in industry *j* in fiscal year *t*.

b. The standard errors of the estimates are clustered at the firm level and calculated by 200 bootstrapping replications. All continuous variables are mean centered.

c. * p < .10, ** p < .05, *** p < .01, **** p < .001 (two-tailed).

$\mathbf{DV} = \mathbf{FV}_{i,j,t}$	Model2: Full Model	Model 3: Geographic Peer	Model 4: Auditor Peer	Model 5: Peers>2	Model 6: Peers>3	Model 7: Peers>0	Model 8: NAICS5
Variable	Coeff.	Coeff.	Coeff.	Coeff.	Coeff.	Coeff.	Coeff.
Advertising _{i,j,t}	.757****	.829***	.708***	.731****	.788****	.727****	.625***
Advertising _{i,j,t} × Intangible Assets _{i,j,t}	.145**	.146**	.144**	.149**	.158**	.148**	.117**
Advertising _{i,j,t} × Cash Flows _{i,j,t}	.576****	.575****	.576****	.580****	.610****	.571****	.580****
Advertising _{i,j,t} × Leverage _{i,j,t}	.044****	.044****	.044****	.044****	.045****	.043****	.041****
Advertising _{i,j,t} × Peer Advertising _{i,j,t}	011*	011**	012**	012**	011**	011**	020****
Advertising _{i,j,t} × Competitive Intensity _{i,j,t}	052	051	051	053	083*	055	087*
$Advertising_{i,j,t} \times Indutry \ Grwoth_{i,j,t}$.040	.041*	.039	.040	.039*	.037	.003
Intangible Asset _{i,j,t}	.873***	.927***	.837***	.857***	.859***	.850***	.720***
Cash Flows _{i,j,t}	3.965****	3.959****	3.969****	3.983****	4.054****	3.981****	3.803****
Leverage _{i,j,t}	049***	047***	050***	051***	044***	048***	047***
Peer Advertising _{i,j,t}	033*	036**	031*	031**	035**	031**	055***
Competitive Intensity _{j,t}	189	186	191	175	217*	187	446***
Industry Growth _{j,t}	.280****	.284****	.277****	.279****	.278****	.277****	.294****
Firm Age _{i,j,t}	473****	482****	466****	468****	452****	470****	431****
Firm Size _{i,j,t}	935****	985****	901****	918****	947****	914****	833****
Liquidity _{i,j,t}	.048***	.050***	.046***	.048***	.048***	.046***	.045***
Inverse Mills Ratio _{i,j,t}	167***	165***	167***	169***	152***	155**	228****
Control Function _{i,j,t}	702****	773***	651***	674***	732****	672****	576***
Intercept	276**	289***	268***	269***	255**	287***	173**
Firm Fixed Effect	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Year Fixed Effect	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Observations (Number of Firms)	11,096 (1,566)	11,096 (1,566)	11,096 (1,566)	11,036 (1,558)	10,938 (1,550)	11,142 (1,569)	11,900 (1,668)
Wald $\chi^2(df)$	1,517.93 (39)****	1,188.33 (39)****	1,473.51 (39)****	1,653.89 (39)****	1,769.10 (39)****	1,470.58 (39)****	1,423.24 (39)****

TABLE 11ROBUSTNESS ANALYSES

Notes: a. NAICS5 indicates the five-digit North American Industry Classification System; $FV_{i,j,t}$ is firm value measured by tobin's q for firm *i* in industry *j* in fiscal year *t*. In Model 5-Model 7, peers indicate both geographic and auditor peers.

b. The standard errors of the estimates are clustered at the firm level and calculated by 200 bootstrapping replications; All continuous variables are mean centered. c. * p < .10, *** p < .05, *** p < .01, **** p < .001 (one-tailed for Model 3-Model 8 and two-tailed for Model 2).

FIGURE 1 PERCENTAGE OF PUBLICLY LISTED FIRMS DISCLOSING ADVERTISING SPENDING



a. The vertical axis represents the percentage of publicly listed firms that disclose advertising spending.b. The horizontal axis represents the fical years from 1995 to 2016.

FIGURE 2 MARGINAL EFFECTS OF DISCLOSURE OF ADVERTISING SPENDING ON INVESTORS' UNCERTAINTY ACROSS VALUES OF CASH FLOWS AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS



Notes:

a. The horizontal axis is the percentile of the moderating variable, where the values are between 20th and 80th percentile of each moderating variable.

b. The vertical axis is the effect of disclosure of advertising spending on investors' uncertainty.

c. The dotted lines represent 95% confidence intervals.

FIGURE 3 MARGINAL EFFECTS OF DISCLOSURE OF ADVERTISING SPENDING ON ANALYSTS' UNCERTAINTY ACROSS VALUES OF CASH FLOWS AND PEER FIRMS' AD DISCLOSURE PREVALENCE



Notes:

a. The horizontal axis is the percentile of the moderating variable, where the values are between 20th and 80th percentile of each moderating variable.

b. The vertical axis is the effect of disclosure of advertising spending on analysts' uncertainty.

c. The dotted lines represent 95% confidence intervals; AD = advertising spending.

(B) Panel B: Peer Firms' AD Disclosure Prevalence

FIGURE 4 MARGINAL EFFECTS OF ADVERTISING SPENDING ON FIRM VALUE ACROSS VALUES OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS, CASH FLOWS, AND PEER ADVERTISING





c. The marginal effects of advertising spending on firm value in Panel A, B, and C are significant at 95 % confidence intervals.